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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation to the Group Financial Statements

The dwectors present thesr report, together with the audited group financial statements and parent company
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

For the purposes of this report and financial statements, the Virgin Media Finance PLC group will be referred to
as 'the group', Virgin Media Finance PLC the ennty wll be referred 1o as 'the company', and the group headed by
Virgin Media Inc , the ultimate parent company, will be referred to as the Virgin Media group'

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The group made a profit for the year, after taxation, of £2,708 9 million (2011 - £173 3 mullion) The directors
have not recommended the payment of a dividend (2011 - £ml) In addition, the agreements governing the
group's senior notes and the semor credit facility, sigmficantly, and, ;n some cases absolutely, resinict the
company's ability to pay dividends

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The company 15 a wholly-owned subsidiary undertaking of Virgin Media Inc The Virgin Media group 1s a
leading entertainment and commumications business, being a “quad-play” provider of broadband internet,
television, mobile telephony and fixed line telephony services

As of 31 December 2012, the Virgin Media group provided services to 4 9 million residennal cable customers on
its network The Virgin Media group 15 also one of the UK’s largest mobile virtual network operators by number
of customers, providing mobile telephony service to 1 7 multion contract mobile customers and [ 3 mullion
prepay mobile customets over third party networks  As of 31 Decembet 2012, 85% of the Virgin Media group’s
cable customers received multiple services from it and 65% were “triple-play™ customers, receiving broadband
internet, television and fixed hine telephony services from the Virgin Media group

The Virgin Media group believes that its advanced, deep fibre access network enables it to offer faster and
higher quality broadband services than 1ts digital subscriber line, or DSL, competitors  As a result, the Virgin
Media group provides its customers with a leading next generation broadband service and one of the most
advanced TV on-demand services available in the UK market

Through Virgin Media Business, the Virgin Media group provides a complete portfolio of voice, data and
internet solutions to businesses, public sector organisations and service providers in the UK

On 5 February 2013, the Virgin Media group entered 1n to a Merger Agreement with Liberty Global, Inc, or
“Liberty Global”, and certain of 1ts direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidianes, or the “Merger Subsidianes™
The Merger Agreement and related transactions were approved by the sharcholders of the Virgin Media group
and Liberty Global on 4 June 2013 and 3 June 2013 respectively

As set out i the Merger Agreement, the effective date of the merger 1s three days following these approvals,
bemng 7 June 2013, unless otherwise agreed by the parties  Merger consideration 15 expected to be transferred on
7 June 2013, following which control will be considered to have passed

As the merger 15 not effective at date of signature of these financial statements, they contain no accounting
modifications 10 consider the potential effects on certain arrangements that may arise from consummation of the
merger, wncluding those relattng to long term debt, denvative financial wnstruments and stock based
compensation plans For more information on the merger see note 28 — Post balance sheet events

The Virgin Media group's reporting segments are based on its method of intemal reporting and the information
used by 1ts chief executive officer, who s the chief operating decision maker, or CODM, to evaluate segment
performance and make capital allocation decisions The Virgin Meda group has two reporting segments,
Consumer and Business, as described below

+ Consumer (83.4% of the group’s 2012 revenue): The Consumer segment ncludes the distnbution of
television programming over the Virgin Media group’s cable network and the provision of broadband and fixed
line telephone services to residential consumers, both on and ofT the Yirgin Media group’s cable network The
Consumer segment also includes the group's mobile telephony and mobile broadband operations, provided
through Virgin Mobile

« Business {16.6% of the group's 2012 revenue): The Business segment includes the voice and data
telecommunication and internet solutions services provided through Virgin Media Business to businesses, public
sector organisations and service providers




Virgin Media Finance PL.C
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation to the Group Financial Statements

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Revenues for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows

2012 2011 Increase/

£ mithon £ milhion (decrease)

Consumer revenues 312 3,2592 19%
Business revenues 659.5 6306 46 %
3,980 7 3,889 8 23%

For the year ended 31 December 2012, revenue increased by 2 3% to £3,980 7 million from £3,889 8 million for
the same period 1n 2011 This increase was due to higher revenue in both the Consumer and Business segments
See further discussion of the Consumer and Business segments below

Cost of sales for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows

2012 2011 Increase/

£ milhon £ milhon (decrease)

Consumer cost of sales 988.7 1,017 2 (28)%
Business cost of sales 219.5 1924 141 %
1,208.2 1,209 6 (0 1)%

Consumer segment cost of sales decreased principally as a result of the continued decline m fixed lme and
mobile telephony interconnect costs arising from lower usage and the step-down 1 mobile termination rates,
offset by an increase 1n cable 1elevision costs, driven pnmarnily by the increase in cable television customers

Busimess segment cost of sales increased as a result of higher acquisition and delivery costs during the early hfe
of certain significant contracts

Gross profits for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows

2012 2011 Increase/

£ million £ milhon (decrease)

Consumer gross profit 2,332.5 22420 40%
Business gross profit 4400 4382 04%
2,772.5 2,680 2 34%

Consumer gross profits increased primanly due to the increase in revenues Business gross profits increased
primanly due to the increase in revenues, partially offset by higher acquisition and delivery costs duning the
early life of certain sigrificant contracts

Admimistrative expenses decreased by 4 0% to £2,051 5 million for the year ended 31 December 2012, from
£2,138 0 million for the year ended 31 December 2011 The decrease was primarily due to lower amortisation
expense, which fell from £118 5 mullion 1n 2011 to £ml in 2012 due to the cessation of amortisation of certain
intangible assets as they had become fully amortised, as well as a decrease 1n property exit and redundancy
related expenses, parually offset by an increase n marketing expenditure

Foreign exchange losses for the year ended 31 December 2012 were £36 7 mullion, compared to gains of £2 1
malhon for the year ended 31 December 2011 The losses for the year ended 31 December 2012 were primanly
due to foreign exchange movements between the 1ssuance of the $500m U S dollar denominated senior notes
due 2022 on 13 March 2012, and the redemption of $500m of the U S dollar denominated semor notes due 2016
on 28 March 2012

The gains for the year ended 31 December 2011 were primarily due to gains on U S dollar denomunated senior
notes due 2016 repaid early in July 2011, offset by the impact of the weakening of the pound sterling relative to
the value of the U S dollar during the year on the company’s U S dollar denominated debt




Vargin Media Finance PLC
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation to the Group Financial Statements

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

On September 30, 2011, the Virgin Media group completed the sale to Scripps Network Interactive, Inc
("Scripps’), of its 50% equity mvestment (n the UKTV jomt venture with BBC Worldwide Limited  After the

inclusion of associated fees, this transaction resulted n a Joss on disposal of £7 2 million 1n the year ended 31
December 2011

Over the last two decades the group has invested over £13 billion building its cable network and has incurred
losses in operating that infrastructure For UK corporation tax purposes, certain of these mvestment costs and
operating losses can be offset against future operating profits, giving nise to deferred tax assets These deferred
tax assets have been previously unrecognised

The group has determined it probable that in future it will generate sufficient pre-tax profits to utilise
substantially all of its deferred tax assets related to unclaimed capital allowances and net operating losses An
important factor in the group’s assessment was that during 2012, the Virgin Media group moved into a three year
cumulative pre-tax profit position for the first tme Consequently, a non-cash income tax benefit of £2,579 3
milhion has been recogmised for the year ended 31 December 2012 For further details of the deferred tax asset
recognition please see note 11 to the financial statements

Performance against Key Performance Indicators
Consumer

The summary combined results of operations of the Consumer segment for the years ended 31 December 2012
and 2011 were as follows

2012 2011

£ milhion £ mithon

Revenue 3,321.2 3,2592
Cost of sales (988.7) {1,017 2)
Gross profit 2,332.5 2,242 0

Consumer segment revenue broken down by customer type for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 was
as follows

2012 2011 Increase/

Revenue £ millton £ mullion (decrease)
Cable 2,695.0 2,626 6 26%
Mobile 5548 5529 03%
Non-cable 7.4 797 {10 )%
3321.2 3,2592 19%

For the year ended 31 December 2012, Consumer segment revenue increased by |1 9% to £3,321 2 milhon from
£3,259 2 million for the year ended 31 December 2011 This increase was primarnly due to an increase 1n
revenues from cable product offerings partially offset by a decline in non-cable revenue

The increase (n cable revenue was pnimanly due to selective price increases and successful up-selling and cross-
selling to the group’s existing customer base, parhially offset by a continued decline in fixed line telephony usage
along with higher price discounting to stimulate customer actwvity and retention in light of competitive factors i
the marketplace

Cable average revenue per user (ARPU) was £48 26 for the year ended 31 December 2012 and £47 42 for the
year ended 31 December 2011 The increase in cable ARPU was due in part to selective price increases and
successful up-selling and cross-selling to existng customers, partially offset by declhining telephony usage and
price discounting Cable products per customer rematned relatively flat at 2 5 as at 31 December 2012 and 2 49
as at 2011, and “triple play” penetration grew to 64 9% at 31 December 2012 from 63 7% at 31 December 201 |
A tnple play customer 1s a customer who subscnibes to the group’s cable television, broadband and fixed hne
telephony services




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation to the Group Financial Statements

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 3| December 2012, mobile revenue increased to £554 8 million from £552 9 mulhon for the
same period in 2011 The increase was primartly attributable to the mcrease in the proportion of contract
customers which generally results in the mobite customer base becoming more profitable, partially offset by the
step down 1n regulated mobile termination rates which reduced inbound mobile revenue by approximately £24
mtlhon duning 2012 as compared to 2011

Non-cable revenue for the year ended 31 December 2012 decreased to £71 4 million from £79 7 mulhon for the
year ended 31 December 2011 The decrease was predominantly driven by a fall in non-cable custorners during
2012 due to mcreased competition in the market, partually offset by price nses

Summary residential cable statistics

Selected statistics for the group’s consumer cable customers are shown below

2012 2011
Total cable customers 4,714,000 4,626,700
Cable products
Television 3,641,700 3,609,700
Telephone 4,016,200 3,970,300
Broadband 4,121,300 3,957,100
Total cable products 11,779,200 11,537,100
Cable products per customer (1) 2.50x 249x
Triple play penetration 64.9% 63 7%
Cable ARPU (11) £48.26 £47 42

(1) Each telephone, television and broadband intemet subscniber directly connected to the Virgin Media group’s
network counts as one product Accordingly, a subscniber who receives both telephone and television service
counts as two products Products may include subscribers receiving some services for free or at a reduced rate 1n
connection with promotional offers

(1) Cable average revenue per user, or Cable ARPU, 1s calculated for the year by dividing total revenue
generated from the provision of telephone, television and internet services to customers who are directly
connected to the Virgin Media group's network in the year, together with revenue generated from customers
using the virginmedia com website, exclusive of VAT, by the average number of customers directly connected to
the Virgin Media group's network, divided by twelve

The total number of cable products grew to 11,779,200 at 31 December 2012, from 11,537,100 at 31 December
2011, representing a net increase i products of 242,100 The group believes that this 1s mainly as a result of
improved product propositions over the year




Virgin Media Finance PLC

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation to the Group Financial Statements
REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Summary mobile statstics

Selected staustics for the group's mobile customers are shown below

2012 2011
Contract mobile customers (1) 1,708,900 1,523,900
Prepay mobile customers (1) 1,328,600 1,513,400
Total mobile customers 3,037,500 3,037,300
Mobile ARPU (i) £14.89 £14 91

(1) Mobile customer information 1s for active customers as at 31 December 2012 and 2011 Prepay customers
are defined as active customers 1f they have made an outbound call or text in the preceding 30 days Contract
customers are defined as active customers 1f they have entered into a contract with Virgin Mobile for a minimum
30-day period and have not been disconnected Contract mobile customers include customers who have taken
either a mobile service or a mobile broadband contract

(n) Motle monthly average revenue per user, or Mobile ARPU, 1s calculated on an annual basis by dividing
mobile service revenue (coniract and prepay) for the year by the average number of active customers (contract
and prepay) for the period, divided by twelve

Between 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2012, the number of mobile customers increased by a net 200
customers Contract customer net gains of 185,000 were offset by net losses of 184,800 prepay customers The
growth In contract customers reflects the launch of new all imclusive tanffs under the “Unlimitacular”
advertsing campaign, coupled with the group focussing handset investment towards customer retention The
decline in prepay customers reflects the level of competition n the prepay market and the group’s strategy of

migrating prepay customers to contracts due to lower churn and hugher overall lifeuime value of contract
customers

Summary non-cable statstics

Selected statistics for the group’s residential customers that are not connected directly through the cable network,
or non-cable customers, are set forth in the table below

2012 2011

Non-cable products
Telephone 130,500 163,300
Broadband 192,800 248,200
Total 323,300 411,500

Total non-cable products decreased by 88,200 during the year ended 31 December 2012, prnimanly due to
competition n the market which continues to increase as the group’s competitors upgrade their networks to
provide fibre based services in areas which are outside of the group's cable network




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation to the Group Financial Statements

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS {(continued)

Business
Business revenue for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 comprised

2012 2011 Increase/
Revenue £ milhon £ million (decrease)
Retail

Data 299.8 273 4 97 %
Vorce 136.3 150 5 (9 )%
LAN solutions and other 333 354 (5 %
469.4 4593 22%

Wholesale
Data 167.6 153 | 95%
Voice 22,5 182 236 %
190.1 1713 110%
Total revenue 659.5 6306 46 %

For the year ended 31 December 2012, revenue from business customers increased by 4 6% to £659 5 milhon
from £630 6 million for the year ended 31 December 2011 The wncrease was prnimanly attributable to an
increase in retall and wholesale data revenues, partially offset by a decrease in LAN solunions and retail voice
revenues

The group's strategy 1s to focus on higher margin data revenue and ncreasing demand for the group’s data
products within a growing data market Retail data revenue represented 63 9% of the retail business revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2012 compared with 59 5% for the year ended 31 December 2011, and increased as
a result of strong revenues from supplymmg mobile backhaul solutions and major public sector contracts
supported by an increase 1n retail volumes across key IVPN and Ethemet products

The decrease in retail votce revenue 15 consistent with the trend across the industry, and the group’s Consumer
segment, as customers migrated from using fixed line telephony to other forms such as mobile telephony and
ntemet based solutions, including video calling

LAN solutions revenue in the year ended 31 December 2012 was £33 3 mulhon compared to £35 4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2011 The majority of this revenue 1s from infrastructure projects which are non-
recurrng in nature

Wholesale revenue increased in the year ended 31 December 2012 mamly as a result of increased usage of the
group’s network by wholesale data customers, and increased wholesale voice revenues as the group secured
traffic from operators that had been migrated to other providers in the second half of 2011

Future outlook

Detail of the future outlook of the group 1s provided in Virgin Media Inc s financial statements and annual
report for 2012, which are available from the company secretary at Virgin Media, Bartley Wood Business Park,
Hook, Hampshire, RG27 9UP
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation te the Group Financial Statements

FINANCING

As of 31 December 2012 the group had £5,869 3 milhion of financial labilities compared with £5,737 4 million
at 31 December 2011 The pnncipal components of financial habilies are discussed below

Sentor credit facility

The group’s sentor credit facilities compnise a term loan, which can be used for general corporate purposes, and
a revolving crednt facility for the financing of ongoing working capital requirements and general corporate
purposes  Since 20 May 2011, £750 mullion has been available under the term loan facility, and £450 million
has been available under the revolving credit facility

At 31 December 2012, £750 million (2011 - £750 million) of the term facihity had been drawn and £6 4 million

(2011 - £5 8 muthon} of the revolving credu facility had been utilised for bank guarantees and standby letters of
credit

Senior notes

At 31 December 2012, the group had 1ssued U S dollar and pounds sterling denominated semor unsecured notes
with a pnincipal amount outstanding of £1,803 6 mullion (2011 - £1,694 4 muilion), net of 1ssue costs

On 13 March 2012 the group i1ssued $500 million 5 25% senior notes due 2022 at par, and the group received
proceeds of £316 3 million, net of fees of £2 9 truilion On 28 March 2012, the net proceeds, together with cash
on the group’s balance sheet, were used to redeem $300 million of the $1,350 milhon 9 50% senior notes due
2016 for £361 2 mulhion inclusive of a redemption premwum of £47 1 million

On 30 October 2012 the group issued $900 million 4 875% and £400 millien 5 125% sentor notes due 2022 at
par, and the group received proceeds of £953 | million, net of fees of £7 4 million The net proceeds, and cash
on the group’s balance shect, were used to redeem the remaining $850 mulhon of the $1,350 million 9 50%
senior notes due 2016, the full outstanding balance of the €180 million 9 $0% senior notes due 2016, $92 9m of
the $600 million 8 375% senior notes due 2019 and £96 5 million of the £350 miltion 8 875% semor notes due
2019 The group repatd these notes over the penod 31 October 2012 to 30 November 2012 with cash of £930 9
million, nclusive of & redemption premitum of £103 3 million

Sentor secured notes

At 31 December 2012, the group had in1ssue U S dollar and pound sterling denominated senior secured notes
with a principal amount outstanding of £2,555 2 muilion (2011 - £2,545 3 mullion), net of 1ssue costs  No sentor
secured notes have been 1ssued or amended during 2012

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The group 1s exposed to volatility in its cash flows and eamings resulting from changes in interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates The group has entered into various derivative instruments with a number of
counterparties to manage this volatihty of 1ts cash flows and earnings

The group has entered into cross-currency nterest rate swaps to manage mterest rate and foreign exchange rate
currency exposures resulting from the fixed rates of interest paid on dollar denominated debt obligations and
movements in far value on certain of its U § dollar denominated debt  Addinonally, the group has entered into
nterest rate swaps to manage (nterest rale exposures resulting from the vanable and fixed rates of interest paid
on sterhing denominated debt obligations and movements n fair value on certain of its sterling denomnated
debt The group has also entered into U S dollar forward rate contracts to manage foreign exchange rate
currency exposures related to certain commutted and forecasted purchases See Note 24 to the financial
statements for further information on the group’s derivative instruments
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Financial nsk management

Details of the financial risks and how they are managed 15 outhited 1n note 23 to the financial statements The

principal financial risks faced by the group are credit nisk, interest rate nsk, foreign exchange rate risk and
hqutdity risk

Principal non-financial risks

Virgin Media Fanance PLC 1s a member of the Virgin Media group, which manages the principal non-financial
risks and uncertamties These nsks, among others, are discussed m more detail n Virgin Media Inc °s annual
report, which 15 available 10 the public on 1ts website at www virgmmedia com/investors under the heading
"Annual Reports” The mformation on the website 15 not part of this report  The principal non-financial risks
mnclude the following

«  the effect of the merger between Liberty Global and the Virgin Media group,

«  the ability 10 compete with a range of other communications and content providers,

= the effect of rapid and significant technological changes on the businesses,

»  general economic conditions,

= the effect of a dechine in fixed line telephony usage and revenues,

¢ the ability to maintain and upgrade the group's networks in a cost-effective and timely manner,
=  possible losses of revenues or customers due Lo systems failures,

= the ability to control unauthorised access to the group’s network,

= reliance on third-party suppliers and contractors to provide necessary hardware, software or operational
support,

= reliance on the use of the “Virgin” name and logo and any edverse publicity generated by other users of the
Virgin name and logo,

»  the ability to manage customer chum,

= the ability to provide attractive programmung at a reasonable cost,

«  rehance on Everything Everywhere to carry mobile voice and non-votce services,
= changes in laws, regulations or govemmental policy, and

* taxrnisks
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EVENTS SINCE THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 5 February 2013, the Virgin Media group entered n to a Merger Agreement with Liberty Global, Inc, or
“Liberty Global”, and certain of wts direct or idirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, or the “Merger Subsidianes”
As the merger has not yet been consummated, the Virgin Media group has not modified its accounting to
consider the potential effects on certain arrangements that may anse upon consummation, mcluding those
relating to long term debt, denvauve financial mstruments and stock based compensation plans For more
information on the proposed merger see note 28 to the financial statements — Post balance sheet events

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL DONATIONS

Duning the year vanous charitable donations 1otalhng £346,900 (2011 - £702,900) were made but no political
donations were made for the year (2011 - £m)

ENYIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Virgin Media group has a long-term commutment to growing a responsible and sustamable business
Accountability for delivering the sustainability strategy sits with its Corporate Responsibility, or CR, Commuttee
Chaired by the Virgin Media group’s Chief Executive Officer, 1t 1s compnised of members of semor
management, who represent 1ts core business functions Supported by the Virgin Media group’s dedicated
Sustainability team, the CR Committee meets quarterly to review the Virgin Media group's progress

Following a formal stakeholder engagement program that included key opinion leaders, staff and customers, 1n
2012 the Virgin Media group increased its strategic focus on the positive impact of digital technology on
everyday life and in communities and society at large Alongside the Virgin Media group’s longstanding
program, Virgin Media Pioneers, which uses digital technology to support the next generation of entrepreneurs,
the Virgin Media group launched a new program called ‘Our digital future' Taking a broad and open view from
a wide spectrum of audiences, ‘Our digital future' will help the Virgin Media group understand the wants and
concerns of every internet user in the UK and support 1t in developing the services of the future that ensure
everyone benefits from what digital technology has to offer

in 2012, three areas of focus were prioritised to improve sustainability across the Virgin Media group its
products, its operattons and 1ts people Targets for improved performance were set across each of these areas, in
addition to the Virgin Media group’s long-term target of reducing its 2007 carbon footprint by 15% by 2015

The Virgin Media group will continue to share updates on uts performance and key mghhghts on its progress
through its award winning sustamability website hitp /www virginmedia com/sustainability

10
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EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES
The Virgin Media group remains committed to the conunuing introduction and practice of progressive
employment policies which reflect changing business, social and employee needs

The Virgin Media group aims to ensure that everyone connected to 1t 1s treated fairly and equally, whether they
are a current or former member of stafT, job applicant, customer or supplier

Nobody should be discriminated agamnst, either directly or indirectly, on the grounds of gender, gender
reassignment, marital status, pregnancy, race, ethmc ongin, colour, nationality, national ongin, disabiluty, sexual
ortentation, religion or behef, age, politcal affihation or trade union membership  The policy applies 10 anyone
who works for, who has worked for or who applies to work for Virgin Media or #ts partners That means
permanent, temporeary, casual or part-time staff, anyone on a fixed-term contract, agency staff and consultants
working with the Virgin Media group, ex-employees and people applying for jobs This applies to all aspects of
employment, including recruitment and training

The Virgin Media group gives full and fair consideration to apphcations from employees with disabilities where
they can adequately fulfil the requirements of the job Depending on their skills and abilities, employees with a
disability have the same opportunities for promotion, career development and tramning as other employees
Where existing employees become disabled, 1t 15 the Virgin Media group's policy to provide contnuing

employment wherever practicable in the same or an altermative position and to provide appropriate training to
achieve this aim

Employee Involvement

The Virgin Media group ts dedicated to increasing the practical involvement of individuals 1n the runming of 1ts
business It secks to achieve this in two ways, as follows

< All employees are encouraged to understand the aims of the overall Virgin Media group and their own
business segment and to contribute to mproving business performance through therr knowledge,
experience, ideas and suggestions This requires strong communication (o ensure that employees are briefed
as widefy as possible about activities and developments across the Virgsn Med@a group The online news
channel, apen forums, newsletters and team meetings play important roles in this, as do the development of
people management skills and the ongoing conversations about performance and development which
underpin mid-year and year-end reviews, and

+  The Vugin Media group ensures that all employees are involved and consulted with through local
involvement and consultation forums

The Virgin Media group fosters a team spirit among employees and thewr greater involvement by offering
participation 1n bonus or local variable reward schemes, the opportunity to mnvest in the Virgin Media Sharesave
Plan and Virgin Media Partnership Plan which are designed to encourage Virgin Media Inc share ownership,
and team development opportunittes  The Virgin Media group also operates a recognition scheme, designed to
reward employees for behaviours which are consistent with the Virgin Media group’s values and has launched a

volunteering scheme which allows employees to take a day each year to volunteer with a charity or organisation
of therr choice

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENTS UNDER THE DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY RULES

Each of the directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge

*  The financial statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, give a
true and far view of the assets, labilites, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the
undertakings included in the consohdation taken as a whole, and

+ The management report, which 1s incorporated nto the directors’ report, includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the position of the company and the undertakings
included 1n the consolidation taken as & whole, together with a deseription of the pnncipal nisks and
uncertainties that they face

11




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation to the Group Financial Statements

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS

The directors who served during the year and thereafter were as follows
R C Gale

C B E Withers (appointed 31 December 2012)

J C Tillbrook (resigned 31 December 2012)

Virgin Media Inc has indemnified the directors of the company against hability in respect of proceedings
brought by third parties, subject to the conditions set out in the Companies Act 2006 Such quahfying third party
mdemnity provision 15 1n force as at the date of approving the directors’ report

SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY AND PRACTICE

It 15 the group’s policy that payments to suppliers are made 1n accordance with those terms and conditions agreed
between the group and its suppliers, provided that all trading terms and conditions have been complied with

At 31 December 2012, the group had an average of 40 days purchases outstanding in trade creditors The
company had no trade creditors, as uts function 1s to facilitate the group's financing structure by nplementing
the group's capital management policies, making and facilitating externa) borrowings and holding investments 1n
subsidiary companies

GOING CONCERN

The group only prepates consohidated financial stalements to meet statutory requirements  As Yirgin Media
Finance PLC s enther a direct or indirect parent of substantially all of the trading companies tn the Virgin Media
group these consohdated financial statements include a large proportton of the trade and assets of the overall
Virgin Media group Whulst forecasts and projections, which take account of reasonably possible changes in
trading performance, have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC group level, they have been
prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole These forecasts and projections showed that cash on hand,
together with cash from operations and the undrawn revolving credit facility, are expected to be sufficient for the
Virgin Media group's cash requirements through to 30 June 2014

Taking nto account these forccasts and projections and after making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable
expectation the group has adequate support and resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future

For these reasons the directors continue to adopt the gomg concern basis 1n preparing these financial statements

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Virgin Media Finance PLC 1s part of the Virgin Mcdia group The Virgin Media group 15 committed to
mamntaming high standards of corporate governance and complies with the corporate governance regime of the
US State of Delaware, the NASDAQ Lisung Rules and the applicable US Securiies and Exchange
Commission rules and regulations and applicable London Stock Exchange Listing Rules Virgin Media
group's corporate  governance statement1s  available to the public on its  website at
www virginmedia com/investors under the heading “Corparate Governance” The information on the website 15
not part of this report

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITORS

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report 1s aware, there 15 no relevant audit
information, being information required by the auditor i connection with preparing ns report, of which the
auditor 1s unaware  Having made enquinies of fellow directors and the group's auditor, each director has taken
all the steps that he/she is obliged to take as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant
audit informatton and to establish that the auditor 1s aware of that information

On behalf of the board

el

C B E Withers
Director
6 June 2013
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation to the Group Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report and the group financial statements n accordance
with applicable United Kingdom law and regulanons Company law requires the directors (0 prepare Group
financial statements for each financial year Under thart law, the directors are required to prepare group financial
statements under International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

Under Company Law the directors must not approve the group financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affars of the group and of the profit or loss of the group for that
period In preparing the group financial siatements the directors are required to

¢  Present farly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the group,

s select suitable accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8 'Accounting Policies, Changes n
Accounting Esumates and Errors' and then apply them consistently,

s present information, including accounting policies, 1n a manner that provides relevant, rehable,
comparable and understandable mformation,

» make judgements that are reasonable,

¢ provide additional disclosures when comphiance with the specific requirements in [FRSs as adopted by
the European Union 15 insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions,
other events and corditions on the group's financial position and financial performance, and

e state whether the group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Unton, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained n the financial
statements

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufTicient 10 show and explain the
group‘s transactions and disciose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financiat position of the group and
enable them to ensure that the group financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of
the IAS Regulation They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

We have audited the group financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 31 December
2012, which comprise the Group Income Statement, the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group
Balance Sheet, the Group Statement of Changes in Equity, the Group Cash Flow Statement, and the related notes
1 to 34 The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and
Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

This report 15 made solely to the company’s members, as a body, 1 accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Our audnn work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them 1n an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explamed more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilittes set out on page 13, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the group financial statements and for being sansfied that they give a true and
fair view Our responsibility is to audi and express an opinion on the group financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and lIreland) Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audrt of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenial misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s
circumstances and have been consistently appled and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addition,
we read all the financial and non-financial information in the report and financial statements to wdentify matenal
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent matenal
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our oprnion the group financial statements

+ give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2012 and of 1ts profit for the year
then ended,

= have been properly prepared in accordance with [FRSs as adopted by the European Union, and

= have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Compantes Act 2006
In our opmien the information given in the group Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the group
financial statements are prepared 1s consistent with the group financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion

= certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
= we have not received all the mformation and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC for the
year ended 31 December 2012

Eﬁv\i + W P
Michael Rudberg (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Emst & Young LLP, Stawtory Auditor

London
6 June 2013
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Adminisirative expenses
Group trading profit

Share of post tax profits of joint ventures accounted

for using the equity method
Group operating profit

Loss on disposal of joint ventures
QCther mcome
Profit before net finance cosis and tax

Finance revenue
Finance costs
Other finance costs - pensions

Profit before taxation
Tax credit/(expense)
Profit for the year

Atributable to
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

15

Notes

34

11

2012 2011

£ milhon £ million
3,9807 38898
(1,208 2) (1,209 6)
2,77125 2,680 2
(2,051 5) 2,138 0)
7210 5422

- 186

7210 5608

- 72)

- 751

210 628 7
629 244
(610 6) (462 3)
2y 07
(548 9) (437 2)
172 1 1915
2,536 8 (18 2)
2,708 9 173 3
2,708 9 1724
- 09

2,708 9 1733




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 20(2

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Impact of movements in cash flow hedges
Tax on cash flow hedges

Actuanal losses on defined benefit
pension plans

Tax on defined benefit pension plans

Total comprehensive profit for the year

Total comprehensive profit for the year
atmbutable to

Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

16

Notes

24

24

31

2012
£ millien

2,708 9

@17
157

(17 5)

107

2,670 1

2,670 1

2,670 1

2011
£ million

1733

(46 5)
233

(242)

1259

1250
09

1259




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2012

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investments

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax assels

Current assets

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Cash and short term deposits

Total assets

Current habilities
Trade and other payables
Financial habihities
Provisions

Non-current habilities

Trade and other payables

Financial liabilities

Provisions

Defined benefit pension plan deficit

Total habilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves
Equity share capital

Share premium account
Other capital reserves
Unrealised gains and losses
Retaned eamings/{deficit)
Total equity

‘(- (.Gat

R C Gale
Director
6 June 2013

Company Registration Number 5061787

17

Notes

12
13
14
15
16
1

15
16
17
18

19
20
22

19
20
22
3

25,27
27
27
27

31 December 31 December
2012 2011
£ mallion £ milhron
1,941 2 1,941 2
4,541 6 4,601 9
1611 2115
512 508
2,5793 -
9274 4 6,805 4
61 95
1,463 1 1,049 8
175 131
195 % 2839
1,682 6 1,356 3
10,957 0 8,161 7
(1,333 5) (1,307 2)
(5t80) (528 3)
{16 9) (15 5)
{1,868 4) (1,851 0)
(64 1) (84 8)
(5,351 3) (5,209 1)
{121 4) (152 5)
(46 5) {43 6)
(5,583 3) (5,490 0)
(7,451 1) (7,341 0)
3,5053 8207
01 01
31,3232 33232
(1,337 6) (1,336 7)
(64 4) {3124)
1,584 0 (1,i33 5)
3,5083 820 7




Virgin Media Finance PLC

Group Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2012

At 31 December 2010

Total comprehensive mcome/(loss)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest
At 31 December 2011

Total comprehensive mcome/(loss)
Acqusition of non-controlling interest
Tax on share based payments

At 31 December 2012

At 31 December 2010

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest
At 31 December 201 |

Total comprehensive mcome/(loss)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest
Tax on share based payments

At 31 December 2012

See note 27 for an explanation of each reserve

Equity Share Other Unrealised
share premium capttal gans and
capital account reserves losses
£ milthon £ million £ milhon £ mllion
01 33232 (1,328 1) 92)
- - - 232
- - (86) -
01 3,3232 (1,336 7) (324)
- - - (320)
- - (09) .
01 33232 (1,337 6) (64 4)
Retained Non-
earnings/ controlhng
(deficit) interests  Total equity
£ million £ million £ milhon
(1,281 7) 48 709.1
148 2 09 125.9
- 57 {14.3)
(1,133 5) - 820.7
2,702 | - 2,670.1
- - {0.9)
154 15.4
1,584 0 - 3,505.3
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Notes

Operating activities
Profit for the year

Adjustmenis to reconcile net profit 1o net cash inflow from opereting actnaities
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets 12
Net finance costs

Share-based payments 26
[ncome taxes

(Profit)loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment

Loss on disposal of investments

Income from equity accounted investments t4
Unrealised losses/(gains) on denivative instruments

Non-cash foreign exchange movements

Decrease/(1ncrease} in trade and other receivables

{Increase)/decrease 1n nventories

(Increase)/decrease 1n prepayments and other assets

Increase n trade and other payables

Decrease in accruals, deferred income and other current hiabilintes

Decrease in deferred income and other tong term liabilines

Movement in provisions

Net cash inflow provided by continuing operating activities

Net cash outflow from discontinued operating activitics

Net cash inflow from total operating actyvities

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Loans to parent and group undertakings

Loan repayments by yoant venture

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Disposal of equity investments, net

Acquistion of subsidiary undertakings, net of cash acquired
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings

Dividends recerved from equity undertakings
Interest received

Net cash outftow from investing activitzes

Funancing activities

Interest pard

Settlement of cross currency interest rate swaps
New barrowings {(net of financing fees)
Repayment of borrowwungs

Capital lease payments

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net decrease 1n cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 18
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 18

19

2012 011

£ milbon £ mullion
2,708 9 1733
928 1 894 6

- 1185

5132 4770
177 200
(2,5350) 234
(119) 31

- 72

- {18 1)

136 @10
06 21

35 (138

{4 4) 133
(182) 232
101 82
(124 69)
(19 4) {24 %)
(419) {55 4)
1,872 5 1,614 4
- (10 4)

1,572 5 1,604 0
(770 2) (645 8)
(399 0) (618 8)
- 108 2

26 22

(2 5) 2436

(0 6) (14 6)

- 23

- 175

574 223
(1,112 3) (883 1)
{571 8) (462 3)
(26 0) 655
1,441 7 9770
(1,294 3) (L5
(97 8) (79 3)
(548 2) (814 8)
(88 0} (93 9)
283 9 3778
195 9 283 9




Virgin Media Finance PL.C
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

1

Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 31 December 2012
were authonsed for issue by the board of directors on 6 June 2013 and the Group Balance Sheet was signed
on the board’s behalf by R C Gale Virgin Media Finance PLC 1s a public limited company incorporated
and domiciled in England & Wales The company’s shares are not publicly traded although the Senior
Notes 1ssued by the company are registered on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange

The group's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 2006 as they apply to the financial statements of the group for the year ended 31
December 2012 The group’s financial statements are also consistent with IFRS as 1ssued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) The principal accounting pohcies adopted by the group
are set out below i note 2

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted by the group are set out below and have all been applied
consistently throughout the current year and the preceding vear

Basis of preparation

The group's financial statements have been prepared n accordance with International Financia) Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union as they apply to the financial statements of the group for the
year ended 31 December 2012 and applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 The separate
financial statements of the parent company are prepared under UK GAAP

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis because, after making enquires, the
directors have a reasonable expectation that the group has adequate resources to continue In operational
existence for the foreseeable future Further detail (s contained n the Directors’ Report on page 12

The group financial statements are presented 1n sterling and all values are rounded to the ncarest one
hundred thousand pounds, except when otherwise indicated

The accounting pohcies which follow set out those policies which apply in prepaning the group's financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

The pror period mformation has been presented on a consistent basis with the current year presentation
Foreign exchange movements have been presented within Finance revenue and/or costs to align with the
nature of how these gains and/or losses arise (see notes 8 and 9)

New standards and interpretations not applied

The following standards and interpretations have been 1ssued with an effective date for accounting penods
beginning after the date of these financial statements

International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRSs/IFRICs) Effective date
IFRS 7 Amendment to [FRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures —

Offsetung Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2013
IFRS 9 Fmancial Instruments 1 January 2015
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013
1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Presentation of ltems of

Other Comprehensive Income 1 July 2012
1AS 19 Revision to IAS 19 Employee Benefits | January 2013
1AS 27 Revision to IAS 27 Separate Financtal Statements | January 2013
1AS 28 Revision to IAS28 Investments in Associates and Jotnt Ventures | January 2013
1AS 32 Amendment to 1AS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation

- Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2014

Improvements to IFRSs 2009-2011 1 January 2013

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 Investment Entittes (Amendment) 1 January 2014

20




Virgin Media Finance PLC

Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

2 Accounting pohcies (continued)

The effective dates are for accounting periods beginning on or after the dates stated The effective dates are
those given in the onginal [ASB/IFRIC standards and nterpretations  As the group prepares its financial
statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Unton, the application of new standards
and 1nterpretations will be subject to thewr having been endorsed wn the EU via the EU Endorsement
mechanism  In the majonity of cases this will result in an effective date consistent with that given n the

ongmal standard or interpretation but the need for endorsement restricts the group's discretion to early adopt
standards

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a material
impact on the group's financial statements 1n the period of mitial application

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make esttmates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported for assets and habilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for

revenues and expenses during the year The nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ
from those estimates

The most significant judgments and estimations used by management 1n the process of applying the group’'s
accounting policies are discussed below

Impairment of intangible assets

The group assesses whether there are any mdicators of impairment for intangible assets at each reporting
date Goodwill and intangible assets with indefimte hives are tested for ympairment annually and at the
reporting date when such indicators exist

When value n use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of these cash flows Where far value less cost to sell 1s used, the valuaton must represent the fair
value of the cash-generating unit 1n an orderly transaction between market participants under current market
conditions, less costs to sell Further details of the key assumptions are given in note 12

Share-based payments

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference to the fair value of the
equity mstruments at the date at which they are granted Estimating fair value requires a determination of
the mast appropniate valuation model for the grant of equity instruments, which 1s dependent on the terms
and conditions of the grant This also requires a deternunation of the most appropnate mputs to the
valuation model including the expected Life of the option, volatiity and dividend yield and making
assumplions gbout them The model used and assumptions made are disclosed in note 26

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and allowances to the extent thar 1t 1s probable that
taxable profit weil be available against which the losses can be utihised Significant judgement 1s required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely iming and the
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies

Details of the group’s deferred tax asset imtial recogmtion and measurement are provided in note 11

Pension plans
The cost of defined benefit penston plans 1s determined using actuanial valuations The actuanal valuation
1s based on assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of retum on assets, future salary increases,

mortality rates and future pension mcreases Due to the long term nature of these plans, such estimates are
subject to significant uncertainty
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Provision for asset retirement obligation

The group recogmises a provision for habilines associated with participation in the market for Waste
Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE') 1n accordance with the accounting policy stated below The
group has made assumptions In relation to historical waste regarding the number of units of equipment
purchased, the number subsequently disposed of and the expected cost of disposal In relatson to future

waste, the group has made assumptions about the age profite of the equipment distmbuted and the cost of
disposal

Restructuring provisions

Amounts provided for 1n relation to restructuring programmes include amounts expected to be settled n
relation to vacant leased properties and redundancy costs These provisions are based on the best esumates
of factors such as the number of people expected to be made redundant, their length of service and

remuneration, the cost of exiing a leased property and the discount rate applied to those specific costs
Further details are contamned in note 22

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation 1s provided on all property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land, on a straight-line
basis at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated
useful ife Useful lives are reviewed annually and where adjusiments are required, these are made
prospectively

Overheads, including staff costs, relatng to the design, construction and development of the network,
capital projects, and related services are capitalised and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the hfe of
the relevant assets

Basls of consohdation
The group accounts consolidate the financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC and the entities it
controls (its subsidianes) drawn up to 31 December each year

Subsidiaries

Subsidianes are consohdated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the group obtams
control, and continue to be consolidated unul the date that such control ceases Control 1s defined as the
power to govern the financial and operational polictes of the investee 50 as to obtamn benefit from its
activities and 1s achueved through direct or indirect ownership of voting nights, currently exercisable or
convertible potential voung nghts, or by way of contractual agreement The financial statements of
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company, using consistent accounting
policies  All inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealised profits ansing from them, are
eliminated in full

Interests n Joint ventures

The group recognises its interest in the assets and liabihities of its joint ventures using the equity method of
accounting Under the equity method, the interest n joint ventures 15 carried in the Group Balance Sheet at
cost plus post-acquisition changes in the group's share of 1ts net assets, less distributions received and less
umpairment in the vatue of individual investments The Group Income Statement reflects the share of the
Jomily controlled ennties’ results after tax

Financial statemenis of the jontly conwolled entiies are prepared for the same reporting penod as the
group
The group disposed of 1ts joint venture interest in the UKTYV group of companies on 30 September 2011 and

from this date the group no longer held any interests in joint ventures Further details are contained n note
14
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

2

Accounting policies {(continued)

Foreign currency transiation

The group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling, which 1s also the parent company’s
functional currency Transactions i foreign currencies are mitially recorded in the local entity’s functional
currency by applying the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and habilities
denomunated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date  All exchange differences are taken to the Group Income Statement, except where hedge-
accounting 15 applied and for differences on monetary assets and lhabilittes that form part of the group‘s net
investment in a foreign operation These are taken directly to equity until the disposal of the net investment,
at which time they are reclassified from equity to profit or loss

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated usmg
the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchaage rates at the date when the fair value was determined

Goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method Any excess of the cost of the business
combination over the group's interest n the net fair value of the idennfiable assets, habilities and contingent
liabilities 1s recognised m the Group Balance Sheet as goodwill and 1s not amortised  To the extent that the
net fair value of the acquired entity's 1dentifiable assets, habilities and contingent habilities is greater than
the cost of the investment, a gamn 1s recognised immediately m the Group Income Statement Any goodwill
asset arising on the acquisiion of equity accounted entities 15 included withun the cost of those entities

Afier wnitial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, with the carrymg
value being reviewed for impairment at least annually and at the reporting date when such indicators exist

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 1s allocated to cash generating units which are no larger
than a reporting segment and represent the level at which results are momitored by management Where the
recoverable amount of a cash generating umt 1s less than s carrying amount, including goodwill, an
impairment loss 15 recognised in the Group Income Statement

When goodwill forms part of a cash generating umit and part of the operation within that umit 1s disposed of,
the goedwill associated with the operation disposed of 1s included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation  Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance 1s
measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash generating
unit retamned

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost on mtial recogmtion  Following imtial
recognition, intangible assets are carmed at cost less any accumulated amortisat:on and impairment losses
An itangible asset acquired as part of a business combunation 1s recognised outside goodwull 1f the asset 15
separable or anses from contractual or other legal nghts and 1ts farr value can be measured rehably
Expenditure on internally developed intangible assets, excluding development costs, 1s reflected in the
Group Income Statement in the year i which it 1s ncurred Development expenditure 1s recogmsed as an
mtangible asset only afier its technical feasibility and commercial viability can be demonstrated

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basts over their expected useful lives, as follows

Customer lists - over thewr useful economic lives up to 8 maximum of 6 years

The group has no intangible assets with finite hves as at 31 December 2012

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 1s stated al cost less accumulated depreciahon and accumulated smpairment
losses Such cost includes costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended
Borrowing costs directly attributable to assets under construction and which meet the recognition criteria n
IAS 23 are capialised as part of the cost of that asset Property, plant and equipment acquired through
business combinations 1s initially recorded at fair value on acquisition
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Virgin Media Finance PLC

Notes to the Group Financial Statemeuts
for the year ended 31 December 2012

2

Accounting policies {continued)

Depreciation 1s provided on all property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land, on a straight-line
basis at rates calculated to wnite off the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated
useful hife as follows

Network assets, cable plant and equipment

Network assets - 3-30years
Other fixed assets
- Property held under finance lease -  period of lease
- Freehold property, otherthan land - 30 years
- Leasehold improvements - 20 years or, If less, the term of the lease
- Fumiture and fixtures - 5-12years
- Computer equipment - 3-Syears
- Motor vehicles - 5years

Construction in pragress

Construction i progress compnising materials, consumables and direct labour relating to network
construction has been included in property, plant and equipment and 15 stated at the lower of cost incurred 1n
bringing each product to s present location and condition, and net realisable value as follows

Raw matenals and consumables - purchase cost
Work in progress - cost of direct materials and labour

Construction tn progress 1s not depreciated

Overheads, including staff costs, relating to the design, construction and development of the network,
capital projects, and related services are capitalised and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the hfe of
the relevant assets

The cartying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
In circumstances mdicate the carrying value may not be recoverable The useful lives and residual values
are reviewed annually and where adjustments are required these are made prospectively

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

In accordance with 1AS 36 'mpairment of Assets’, the group assesses at each reporting date whether there 15
an indication that an asset may be impawred 1f any such indication exists, or when annual ympairment
testing for an asset 15 required, the group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount  An asset’s
recoverable amount 15 the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and 1s determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset 15 considered impaired and 1s written down to 1ts recoverable amount In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
curvent market assessments of the ime value of money and the risks specific to the asset Impairment losses
of conunuing operations are recognised in the Group Income Statement in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset

An assessment I1s made at each reporting date as to whether there 1s an indication that previously recogmised
impaurment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount 15 eshmated A previously recognised impairment loss i1s reversed only if there has been a change m
the estimates used to determune the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognised
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
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Accounting policies (continued)

Pravislons for habilines and charges

General

Provisions are recorded when the group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event for
which it 1s probable that the group will be required 10 sertle by an outflow of economic benefits and for
which a reliable esumate of the amount of the obligation can be made Provisions are reviewed at each
balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best esnimate

Where the effect of the time value of money 15 material, the amount of the provision 1s the present value of
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation

Asset retirement obligation
The group 15 a provider of electrical equipment that falls under the EU directive on Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment The group has deemed all equipment purchased prior to the date that the law came

into effect (2 January 2007) to be histoncal waste and al! equipment purchased after that date to be new
waste

A provision for the expected cost of disposal 1s recognised when products that fall within the EU directive
are purchased and the disposal costs can be rehiably measured The expected costs are capitalised within
Property, Plant and Equipment and deprectated over the useful economic hfe of the asset The provision 15
utilised when the asset is retired or disposed of

Where the effect of the time value of money 15 matenal, the amount of the provision 1s the present value of
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obhigation

If the effect 15 matenal, expected future cash flows are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects,
where appropniate, the nisks specific 1o the liabihty

Leases

Group as a lessee

Assets held under finance leases, which wransfer to the group substanually all of the risks and benefits
incidental to ownership of the leased 1tem are capnalised at the inception of the lease, with a corresponding
hability being recogmsed for the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the
minimurn fease payments Lease payments are apportioned between the reduction of the lease hability and
finance charges in the Group Income Statement so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the lisbility Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the
asset, certain assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the lease term where this (s shorter than
the estimated usefu) hfe

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified
as operating leases and rentals payable are charged in the income statement on a straight line basis over the
lease term

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are iinially recognised at fair value less directly antributable transaction costs

Afier imtial recognitton, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amormised cost
using the effective mterest method

Gains and losses ansing on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of habtlities are recognised
respectively 1n finance revenue and finance costs

Finance costs which are incurred 1n connection with the 1ssuance of debt are deferred and set off against the

borrowings to which they relate Deferred finance costs are amortised over the term of the related debt
using the effective interest method
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Accounting policies (continued)

Dermvative financial instruments and hedging
The group has established policies and procedures to govern the management of risks associated with
fluctuating interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates through the use of derivative financial

mnstruments, including interest rate swaps, cross-CwTency tnterest rate swaps and foreign currency forward
contracts

Denvative financial instruments are mitially recogmised at far value on the date on which a derivative
contract 1s entered 1nto and are subsequently remeasured a: farr value at each balance sheet date
Derivatives are recognised as financial assets when the fawr value 1s posinve and as financial liabilties when
the fair value 1s negative Derivatives are presented as non-current assets or non-current habihites 1f the
remaining maturty of the mstrument 1s more than 12 months and 15 not expected to be realised or seitled
within 12 months Other denvatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities

The foreign currency forward rate contracts, interest rate swaps and cross-Currency interest rate swaps are
valued using internal models based on observable nputs, counterparty valuations or market transactions in
either the listed or over-the-counter markets, adjusted for non-performance risk  Non-performance risk 1s
based upon quoted crednt default spreads for counterparties to the contracts and swaps Derivative contracts
which are subject to master netting arrangements are not offset and have not provided, ror require, cash
collateral with any counterparty

While these msiruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates,
these losses would generally be offset by gains in the related exposures Financial mstruments are only used
1o hedge underlying commercial exposures The group does not enter into derivative financial instruments
for speculative trading purposes, nor does 1t enter mnte derivative financial instruments with a level of
complexity or with a risk that 1s greater than the exposure to be managed

For derivatives which are designated as hedges the hedging relationship 1s documented at its inception  Thus
documentation 1dentifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how effecuveness will be measured throughout its durattion Such hedges are expected at
inception to be highly effective

The group designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges, when hedging exposure to vanabihty m
the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments, or as cashflow hedges, when hedging
exposure to vanability in cash flows that are erther attributable to a particular risk associated with a
recognised asset or hahhty or a highly probable forecast transaction

Denivatives that are not part of an effective hedging relationship as set out in IAS 39 must be classified as
held for trading and measured at fair value through profit er loss

The treatment of gans and losses ansing from revaluing denvatives designated as hedging instruments
depends upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as follows

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging mstrument 15 recognised
directly as other comprehensive mcome o the net unrealised gains and losses reserve, while the mneffective
portion 1s recognised 1n profit or lass  Amounts taken to other comprehensive income and accumulated n
equity are reclassified to the Group Income Statement when the hedged ransaction 1s recogmised n profit or
loss, such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs, in the same line of the income statement as the
recognised hedged tem Where the hedged item 1s the cost of a non-financial asset or hability, the gamns
and losses previously accumulated in equity are transferred to the initial measurement of the cost of the non-
financial asset or liability

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amoumis previously recogmsed in equity are
reclassified to profit or loss [f the hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated or exercised without
replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge 1s revoked, amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income remain m equity until the forecast transaction occurs and are reclassified to the
Group Income Statement or to the tnitial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability above [fthe
related transaction 15 no longer expected to occur, the pain or loss accumulated in equity 1s recogmised
immediately 1n profit or loss
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Accounting policies (continued)

Fair value hedges

For fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the hedging mstrument are recogrused m profit or loss
utmmediately, together with any changes n the fair value of the hedged asset or hability that are attributable
to the hedged nsk The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change 1n the hedged

ttem attributable to the hedged risk are recogmsed in the line of the income statement relating to the hedged
tem

If the hedging instrument expires or 15 sold, termmated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its
designatton as a hedge 15 revoked, then the far value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item
ansing from the hedged risk 1s amorused to profit or loss from that date

Inventorles

Inventory consists of goods for resale which are valued at the lower of cast or net reahsable value using the
first-1n, first-out (FIFO) method Cost represents the invoiced purchase cost of inventory Net realisable
value 1s based on judgements, using currently available information about cbsolete, slow moving or
defective mnventory Based upon these judgements and estimates, which are apphed consistently from

period to penod, an adjustment 1s made to state the carrying amount of inventory held for resale at the lower
of cost and net realisable value

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at the lower of their onginal invoiced value and recoverable
amount Where the ime value of money 15 matenial, receivables are carried at amortised cost  Provision 15
made where there 1s objective evidence that the group will not be able to recover balances m full Balances
are wnitten off when the probability of recovery 15 assessed as being remote

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the Group Balance Sheet comprise cash a1 banks and 1n hand and shont-term
deposus with an onginal matunty of three months or less For the purpose of the Group Cash Flow
Statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts

Tax
Current income tax
Current tax assets and Labilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the

taxation authonties, based on tax rates and laws thal are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date

Current income tax relaung to items recognised directly 1n equity 1s recognised in equity and not 1n the
mcome statement The directors periodecally evaluate positions taken in the tax returns with respect to
situations 1n which applicable tax regulations are subject to mterpretation and establish provisions where
appropriate Income tax 1s charged or credited 1o other comprehensive mncome 1f it relates to tems that are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income

Deferred tax

Deferred 1ax 1s provided using the habihty method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and habiliies and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date

Deferred tax habilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except

e When the deferred tax liability arises from the imtial recogmtion of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that 15 not a business combination and, at the ime of the wransaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

*  In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments (n subsidiaries, associates and

interests 1n joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it 1s probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future
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Accounting policies (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses Deferred tax assets are recogmised to the extent that 1t 1s probable that
taxable profit will be available agamst which the deductible temperary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and enused tax losses can be utilised, except

¢  When the deferred tax asset relatmg to the deductible temporary difference arises from the witial
recogmition of an asset or liability in a transaction that 1s not a business combmnation and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

* In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests In joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recogmised only to the extent that it s probable
that the temporary differences will reverse n the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
aganst which the temporary differences can be utihsed

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 15 reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it 15 no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or pan of the deferred tax
asset 10 be utthsed Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are
recognsed to the extent that 1t has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax
asset to be recovered

Deferred tax assets and habilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply wn the year when
the asset 1s realised or the Liability 1s settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outstde profit or loss 15 recogmsed outside profit or loss

Deferred tax 1tems are recognised it correlation to the underlying transaction either (n other comprehensive
income or directly 1n equity

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current
tax assets against curren! mcome tax hapihies and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and
the same taxation authority

Pensions

The group contributes to the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans for eligible employees
Contributions to these schemes are recognised in the Group Income Statement in the period n which they
become payable, in accordance with the rules for each of the plans

The group operates two defined benefit pension plans, both of which require contributions to be made to
separately administered funds and are closed to new entrants

The regular cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans 1s atimbuted 1o individual years using
the projected unit ¢redit method Vamations 1n pension cost, which are 1dentified as a result of actuanal
valuations, are amortised over the average expected remamning working lives of employees in proportien to
their expected payroll costs Past service costs are recogmsed in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period or immediately 1f the benefits have vested

When a settlement (eliminating all obligations for benefits already accrued) or a curtailment (reducing
future obligations as a result of 2 matenal reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction in future
entitlement) occurs, the obhgation and related scheme assets are re-measured using the current actuarial
assumptions and the resultant gain or loss recognised in the Group Income Statement during the penod 1n
whuch the settlement or curtailment occurs
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Accounting policies (continned)

The 1nterest element of the defined benefit pension cost represents the change in present value of scheme
obligations resulting from the passage of time and 1s determined by applying the discount rate to the
opening present value of the benefit obligation, taking into account matenal changes in the obhgation
during the year The expected return on scheme assets 15 based on an assessment made at the beginning of
the year of long term market returns on scheme assets, adjusted for the effect of fair value of the scheme
assets of contributions received and benefits paid during the year The difference between the expected
return on scheme assets and the interest cost 15 recogmsed » the Group Income Statement

Actuanial gains and losses are recogmised i full in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 1n the
pertod in which they occur

The defined benefit pension asset or hability i the Group Balance Sheet comprises the total for each
scheme of the present value of the defined benefit obhigation (using a discount rate based on high quality
corporate bonds), less any past service cost not yet recognised and less the fair value of scheme assets out of
which the obligations are to be settled directly Fair value 15 based on market price information and, n the
case of quoted securines, 1s the published bid price

Revenue recognition

Revenue 15 recogmised to the extent that it 1s reahsed or realisable and earned Revenue 1s measured at the
farr value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates and VAT The following criteria must
also be met before revenue 15 recogmised

* persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists between the group and the group’s customer,
* delivery has occurred or the services have been rendered,

= the price for the service 15 fixed or determinable, and

+ recoverability 1s reasonably assured

Consumer

Fixed line telephone, cable television and internet revenues are recogmsed as the services are provided to
customers Adjustments are made at the end of each penod to defer revenue relating to services billed in
advance and to accrue for eamned but unbilled services

Installation revenues are recogrused at the time the mnstallation has been completed to the extent that those
fees are less than the direct selling costs, which s generally the case Installation fees in excess of direct
selling costs are deferred and amortised over the expected life of the customer’s connection

Bundled mnstailation and service revenue 1s recogmsed where the components of these arrangements
represent s¢parate units of accounting and the revenue from bundled components should be recognised
separately For bundled packages that have separately identifiable unis of accounting, the total
consideration 1s allocated to the different components based on therr relative fair values The group'’s
bundled arrangements for its residential customers do not generally have separately identifiable umits of
accounting,

Rental revenue 1n respect of line rentals and rental of equipment provided to customers 1s recognised on a
straighti-line basis over the term of the rental agreement

Mobile handset and other equipment revenues are recogmsed when the goods have been delivered and utle
has passed Equipment revenue 15 stated net of discounts eamed through service usage

Mobile service revenues include airtime, data, roaming, and long distance revenues and are invoiced and
recorded as part of a periodic bilhing cycle Service revenues are recogmsed as the services are provided
Adjustments are recorded at the end of each pertod to defer revenue billed 1n advance and accrue for eamed
but unbilled services Contract customers are billed 1n arrears based on usage and revenue 1s recognised
when the service 15 rendered and recoverablity 1s reasonably assured Revenue from non-contract pre-pay
customers 18 recorded as deferred revenue prior to commencement of the services and 15 rendered as the
services are rendered or usage expires
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Accounting policies (coatinued)

Business

Rental revenues in respect of line rentals and renta) of equipment provided to customers are recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the rental agreement

Installation revenues are recognised when the contracted service has been delivered, which 15 generally
when a customer 1s connected to the network and has acknowledged acceptance

Other income
Interest income s recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest methed - that 15 the rate that

exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the
net carrying amount

Drvidend revenue 1s recogmised when the group's right to receive payment 1s established

Share-based payments

The company 1s an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Inc  Accordingly, the company has
no share-based compensation plans of 1ts own Certain of the group's employees participate in the share-
based compensation plans of Virgin Media Inc , which are described in Virgin Media Inc 's Annual Report
and summarised 1n note 26 below, whereby employees render services 1n exchange for shares or nights over
shares (equity-settled wransactions) of Virgin Media Inc common stock

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted The fair value of options 1s determined using the Black-Scholes model The farr
value of restricted stock units 1s determined using either the share price at the grant date or the Monte Carlo
model, depending on the conditions attached to the restncted stock units being granted These transaction
costs are recognised, together with a corresponding increase in either equity or amounis owed to parent
undertakings, over the service penod, or, 1f applicable, over the period m which any performance conditions
are fulfilled, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
(vesting date) The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date,
until the vesting date, reflects the extent to which the vesting penod has expired and the number of awards
that will ultimately vest, 1n the opimion of management ai that date and based on the best available
estimates

No expense 1s recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting 1s

conditional upon a market vesting condition, which are treated as vesting urespective of whether or not the
market condition 1s satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied
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Revenue

Revenue s analysed as follows

2012 2011
£ mllion £ milhion
Sales of goods and services

Consumer 33212 32592
Business 6595 6306
Revenue 3,980 7 38898
Finance revenue (note 8) 629 24 4
Total revenue 4,043 6 39121

Revenue, excluding finance revenue, 1s denved from goods and services provided through the following
reporting segments

« Consumer the distribution of television programming over the group's cable network and the provision
of broadband and fixed line telephone services to residennal consumers, both on and off the group's
cable network Consumer also includes the group’s mobile telephony and mobile broadband operations,
provided through Virgin Mobile

« Business the provision of voice and data telecommunication and internet solutions services provided
through Virgin Med:a Business to businesses, public sector organisations and service providers

Segment information

Virgin Media Finance PLC's function 1s to faciliate the Virgin Media group's financing structure by
implementing the Virgin Media group's capial management pohcies, making and facilitating external
borrowings and holding investments in subsidiary companies These consolidated financial statements are
only prepared 1o meet statutory requirements and do not affect the way in which the overall Virgin Media
group 1s managed

The Virgin Media group’s reporting segments are based on 1ts method of internal reporting with the critena
used by 1ts chief executive officer, who 1s the group’s chief operating decision maker (CODM), to evaluate
segment performance and make capital allocation decisions

Whilst the group has operating segments, consisting of Consumer and Business, which are consistent with
the Virgin Media group's segments, financial information 1s only prepared for and reviewed by the CODM
at the Virgin Media group level As such there are no separable reportable segments for the gtoup The
revenue and operating profit or loss of companies not within the group, but ncluded n the financial
wnformation reviewed by the CODM are shown for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December
2011 below

The Virgin Media group's Consumer segment is (ts primary segment, consisting of the distribution of
television programming, broadband and fixed line telephone services to residential customers on 1ts cable
network, the provision of broadband and fixed line telephone services to residential customers outside of us
cable network, and the provision of mobile telepheny and broadband to residential customers

The Virgin Media group's Business segment comprises its operations cammied out through Vegin Media
Business, which provides a complete portfolio of voice, data and internet solutions to businesses, public
sector organisattons and service providers n the UK

Segment contribution, which 15 operating profit or loss before network operating costs, corporate costs,
depreciation, amortisation, goodwill and intangible asset impaiments and restructuning charges, is
mapagement's measure of segment profit Segment contribution excludes the immpact of certain costs and
expenses that are not directly atirtbutable to the reporting segments, such as the costs of operating the
network, corporate costs, depreciation and amortisation Restructuring charges, goodwill and intangible
asset impairments are excluded from segment contribution as management believes they are not
charactenstic of the groups underlying business operations  Assets are reviewed on a consohidated basis and
are not altocated to segments for management reporting purposes, since the pnimary asset of the business 1s
the cable network infrastructure which 1s shared by the Virgin Media group's Consumer and Busimness
segments
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Segment information (continued)

Liabiliues are also reviewed on a consolidated basis since they are manly comprised of the group's long-
term debt 1n the form of ns semor credit faciliy, senjor notes and senior secured notes, which are not

allocated to segments for management reporting

Segment information for the group, which operates entirety within the United Kingdom, 1s presented below

Year ended 31 December 2012

Consumer  Business Total
£mlhioe £milion £ mulhion
Rewenue of the Virgio Media group
Sales to extemal customers 34302 6703 4,100 5
Total revenue reported to CODM 34302 6703 4,100 5
Revenue of companies outside Virgin Media Finance PLC group (1090) (108) (119 8)
Revenue 33212 6595 3,980 7
Segment contribution reported toa CODM 20532 3808 24340
Amounts not allocated to segments for management's measure of
segment reporting.
Other costs not attnbuted to segments (770 4)
Depreciation (927 8)
Operating profit of compantes outside Virgin Media Finance PLC
group (14 8)
Group operating profit 7210
Year ended 31 December 2011
Consumer  Busioess Total
£mllion £ million £ million
Rewenue of the Virgin Media group
Sales to external customers 33544 6374 39918
Total revenue reported to CODM 33544 6374 3,991 8
Revenue of companies outside Virgin Media Fiance PLC group (952) (6 8) (1020)
Revenue 3,259 2 6306 3.889 8
Segment contribution reported to CODM 1,991 5 3774 2,368 9
Amounts not allocated to segments for management's measure of
segment reporting:
Other costs not attmbuted to segments (800 5)
Depreciation (894 6)
Amortisation (118 5)
Share of post tax profits of joint ventures 186
Operatmg profit of compantes outsxde Virgin Media Finance PLC
group (D))
Group operahng profit 560 8
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This s stated afier charging/(crediting)

2012 2011
£ milhon £ million
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8511 8378
Depreciation of assets held under finance leases and 767 56 8
hire purchase contracis
Amortisation of intangible assets - 1185
Total depreciation and amortisation expense 927 8 1,013 1
Operating lease payments - minimum lease payments 235 259
- rent of commercial premises 262 211
Total lease payments recognised as an expense 497 470
(Gain)loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (119 31
Cost of inventonies recognised within cost of sales 124 6 122 6
Write downs of inventories to net realisable value 11 71
1257 129 7

6 Auditor's remuneration

The group paid the following amounts 10 1its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements and
for other services provided to the group
2012 2011
£'000 £'000

Audit services
* Statutory audit services - audit of the parent company and group 507 543
financial statements

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and therr associates for other services

+ Statutory audit services - statutory accounts of the company's subsidianes 362 426

+ Tax services 387 -

« All other services 8 8

Fees in respect of pension schemes

o Audit 22 22
1,286 999

Fees paid to the auditor for audit and other services to the company are not disclosed n its individual
accounts as the group accounts are required to disclose such fees on a consolrdated basis

Fees payable 10 the company's auditors and their associates for other services represents fees payable for
services In relation to other statutory filings or engagements that are required to be carried out by the group's
auditors

Tax services represents fees payable for tax compliance and advisory services
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(a) Staff costs

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs (see note 31)

Total staff costs

2012 2011

£ million £ million

5169 4994

628 486

- defined benefit 18 (13)
- defined contribution 137 136
5952 560 3

Included in wages and salaries 15 a total expense for share-based payments of £17 7 mulhion (2011 - £20 0
milion) all of which arses from transactions accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment

transactions

(b) Average staff numbers

The average monthly number of employees during the year was

2012 2011
No. No.
Employees atiributed to reporting segments
Consumer 4,527 4,592
Business 807 811
5334 5,403
Employees noi atirtbuted to reporting segments
Access and networks 5,986 5,501
Technology 818 862
Corporate 1,214 1,321
Total staff numbers 13,352 13,087
(c) Directors’ emoluments
2012 2011
£'000 £000
Directors’ emoluments 458 493
Company contrnibutions paid to money purchase pension plans 41 38
Highest paid director
Emoluments 319 313
Company contributions paid to meney purchase pension plans 31 31
350 344
2012 2011
No. No.
Number of directors accruing benefits under money purchase plans 3 2
Number of directors who exercised share options under schemes
operated by ultimate parent company 1 2
Number of directors with shares received or receivable under long
term incentive plans ** 3 3

** In 2011, one director, who had received shares under a long-term incentive plan, left the company and

the shares were subsequently cancelled

The lughest paid director exercised share options 1n the ulttmate parent company during the year

There were no other transactions during the year with any of the directors

34




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Greup Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

8 Finance revenue

2012 2011

£ milhon £ milhon

Bank interest recervable 13 22
Interest on loans to joint ventures - 33
Interest on amounts due from group undertakings 561 132
Gans on foreign exchange - 21
Other finance income 55 36
Total finance revenue 629 244

Bank interest receivable, interest on loans to joiwt ventures and interest on amounts due frem group
undertakings are recognised using the effective interest rate method wn accordance with 1AS 39 ‘Fancral

Instruments Recogmition and Measurement'

9 Finance costs

10

2012 2011
£ mllion £ mullion
Interest payable on

Sentor credit facility and mortgage loans 238 407
Sentor notes 2985 324 1
Loans from parent undertakings 157 195
Loss on denvative financial instruments 261 74
Loss on debt extmguishment 189 8 472
Interest payable on finance leases 161 146
Oiher interest and fees 18 48
Loss on foreign exchange 367 -
Unwmnding of discounts on provisions 21 40
Total finance costs 6106 462 3

Interest payable 1s recogmised using the effective interest rate method

For the year ended 31 December 2012, loss on extinguishment of debt was £189 8 million which related to
the redemption premia paid and the write off of deferred financing costs as a result of the redemption of the
senior notes on 28 March 2012, and the redemption of the semor notes over the penod 31 October 2012 10
30 November 2012

For the year ended 31 December 2011, loss on extnguishment of debt was £47 2 mihon which related 10
the wnte off of deferred financing costs as a result of the repayments of the senior credit facility from the
net proceeds of the semor secured notes issued on 3 March 2011, the refinancing of the senior credst facilaty
on 20 May 2011 and the redemption of the senior notes on 26 July 2011

Other income
During the year ended 31 December 2011, the group reached an agreement with HM Revenue & Customs

(HMRC) regarding the VAT treatmem of certain revenue generating activities, HMRC provided the group
with a refund of £75 1 milhon
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Overview
For the year ended 31 December 2012 the group recogmsed an income tax benefit of £2,536 8 million
compared to an expense of £18 2 million n the year ended 31 December 2011

Deferred tax

As of 31 December 2012 the group had gross deferred tax assets of £5,548 9 million of which £5,362 3
mulhion related to the UK and which principally comprised capital allowances, net operating losses, or
NOLs, and capuital losses The group accumulated these assels over the last two decades as it made
sigmficant investments 1n bulding 1ts network infrastructure and ncurred significant losses as 1t operated
that network These assets represent amounts the group, 1in common with other companies in the UK, are
able to use to reduce its future 1axable profits in the UK The group has historically not recognised etther its
UK or U 8 deferred tax assets

The assessment of the amount of deferred tax asset the group recognises under the applicable accounting
rules 1s highly judgmental The group 15 required 1o consider all evailable positive and negauve evidence in
evaluating the likelthood that it will be able to realise the benefit of its deferred tax assets n the future Such
evidence includes scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabities, projected future taxable income, tax-
planning strategies, and the results of recent operations Since this evaluation requires constderation of
events that may occur some years 1nto the future, there 1s sigmficant judgment involved, and the group’s
conclusion could be matenally different should certain of 1ts expectations not transpire

When assessing all available evidence, the group constders an important piece of objective evidence 1s the
extent to which 1t has made pre-tax income or losses over recent peniods Historically, the Virgin Medna
group has not recogmsed i1ts deferred tax assets principally because the Virgin Media group has been in a
cumulative pre-tax loss position over the most recent two year period While there has been a trend of
positive evidence that has been strengthening i recent years, it was not sufficiently persuasive to outweigh
the negative evidence provided by the group’s cumulative pre-tax loss posiion During the year ended 31
December 2012, the group emerged from a curnulative pre-tax loss position in the UK for the first time,
which removed this important piece of negative evidence from its evaluation

The group’s deferred tax asset recognition assessment for the year ended 31 December 2012 considered the
following positive and negative evidence in respect of the Virgin Media group Based on this evidence, the
group concluded that it was probable that in future penods it will generate sufficient pre-tax profits to utilise
substannally all of its UK deferred tax assets relating to capital allowances and NOLs

Positive evidence

*  The Virgin Media group has now generated pre-tax profit in the UK of more than £150 million for two
consecutive years and has utilised some of 1ts available tax assets to reduce the tax habilities that would
have otherwise ansen 1n those periods

*  The Virgin Media group’s UK caputal allowances and NOLs do not have an expiration date

* The Virgin Media group's financial performance has continued to improve despite challenging
macroeconomic conditions Steady growth in revenue and operating income has been maintamed for
three years, and the group believes that financial performance will continue to ymprove even if the
current economic conditions persist

«  The Virgin Media group's forecasts of future taxable profits indicate that its pre-tax profit and taxable
profit will increase in the future

e The Virgin Media group has re-financed a significant portion of its high-coupon debt nto lower-
coupon, longer duration debt 1n recent years
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11 Taxation (continued)

Negative evidence

In the absence of a cumulative loss within the Virgin Media group 1n the last two years, the remauung
negative evidence consists solely of the Virgin Media group’s long history of sigmificant pre-tax lasses prior
to 2011, dating back many years prior to the merger with Telewest in 2006 In total, The Virgin Media
group’s UK group compames have approximately £384 5 mullion of deferred tax assets on £1,671 6 million
of NOLs, of which £346 7 million has been recogmsed and which has accumulated over many years The
group believes that the combined impact of a number of company specific and industry specific

developments over recent years makes 1t unhkely that those historic losses will be repeated 1n the future
These include

Company specific factors

*  The significant investment associated with building the Virgin Media group’s unique cable network
does not need to be replicated Instead, the Virgin Media group 1s able to spend relatively more modest
sums to gradually upgrade and improve that network

»  The Virgm Media group has established itself as one of the major telecommunication service providers
in the UK, offering leading nex1 generation broadband and television services, which has enabled them
to steadily and economically grow revenues

»  Significant restructuning and rationalisation acuvities subsequent to the Telewest merger have reduced
the Virgin Media group’s cost base and focused the business on its core activities This allowed the
Virgin Media group to leverage its network into financial returns and generate consistently improving
operating margins

*  There has been a material improvement 1n the Virgmm Media group’s credit standing 1n recent years,
including certain of the Virgin Media group's debt being rated investment grade, which has allowed
them to reduce and lock-1n lower interest rates

Industry specific factors

*  The cable and telecommunications markets have matured since the late 1990s and early 2000s

*  There s only one competitor in the UK with a substantial fibre network

+  Pricing in the UK telecommunications market 1n recent years 1s considerably more rational than in the
early to mid portion of the previous decade The Virgin Media group expects that trend to continue
given a) the increase 1n demand for data traffic that requires a high speed delivery mechanism like the
group’s fibre network and b) the structure of the UK market

*  Consohdation in the industry has reduced the number of competitors since the years in which the Virgin
Media group incurred significant losses

»  The industry 1s capital intensive and barriers to entry are high, therefore, the Virgin Media group does
not envisage uneconomic compention from new entrants

Afier consideration of these factors, the group determined that 1t was unlikely that the losses incurred prior
to the year ended 31 December 2011 would be repeated and as a result, the group did not place significant
weight on the negative evidence provided by s long history of losses

The group beheves that its positive evidence 1s strong The improving financial performance i recent years
1s an objectively verifiable piece of posiive evidence and 1s the result of a number of factors which have
been present to a greater or lesser extent in prior years but have only recently gathered sufficient weight to
deliver objectively venfiable, consistent taxable profits

A key consideration in the group’s analysis was that the unlimited carryforward penods of its UK tax assets
make the realisation of those assets less sensitive to vanations 1n 1ts projections of future taxable income
than would otherwise be the case if the carryforward periods were ime limited In performung (ts analysis,
the group used the most updated plans and estimates that 1t currently uses to manage the underlying business
and calculated the utilisation of 1ts deferred tax assets under a number of scenarios The group does not
require matenal increases in the current levels of cash flows, book income, or taxable income to recover the
value of its deferred tax assets other than capnal losses
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The emergence of the Virgin Media group from a cumulative loss position n the UK during 2012 was an
important consideration m the assessment and changed the balance of the remaiming available evidence
Therefore, the group determined that it was appropriate to recognise substantially all of its deferred tax
assets other than capntal losses The recognition of the group’s deferred tax assets resulted in an income tax
benefit of £2,537 5 mulhion, during the year ended 31 December 2012, and an increase In non-curtent
deferred tax assets on the Group Bzlance Sheet for the year ended 31 December 2012 Beginming in 2013,
the group expects us net profit 1o be impacted to a greater degree by ncome tax expense, which may
fluctuate from period to period However, this recognition will not result 1 any change 1o the amount of
cash payments to the UK tax authonties for income taxes

Realisation of the group’s deferred tax assets 15 dependent on generaung sufficient taxable profit in future
periods Although the group belteves it 18 probable that future taxable profit will be sufficient to altow it to
recover substantially all of the value of ts UK deferred tax assets other than capital losses, realisation 1s not
assured and future events could cause the group to change its judgment (f future events cause the group to
conchude that 1t 1s not probable that it will be able to recover all of the value of 1ts deferred tax assets the
group would be required to derecogmse 1ts deferred tax assets at that time, which would result 1n a charge 1o
tncome tax expense and a matenal decrease i net profit i the period in which the group changes uts
judgment

During 2012, the group also recogntsed U S deferred tax assets relating to certain of its subsidiaries that are
considered dual resident in the UK and U S for tax purposes, and recognised a benefit of £40 7 million
The assets 1n these companies are principally comprised of NOLs The comnpantes have emerged from a
cumulative loss position and afier consideration of all available positive and negative evidence the group
believes 1t 1s probable that the deferred tax assets will be utihsed Because those companies have emerged
from a cumulative loss position, sighificant negatve evidence no longer exists Positive evidence exists in
the form of recent profitability, forecasts for continued profitability, and long expiration penods for the
NOLs The group does not require significant improvements n the level of profitability 10 utilise the
deferred tax assets prior to their expiration

The group has not recognised 1ts deferred tax assets relating to capital losses, which totalled approximately
£2,786 0 mullion as of 31 December 2012 The group does not expect to realise any significant benefit from
these capital losses because they can only be used to the extent the group generates future UK taxable
capital gans from assets held by subsidiaries owned prior to 2006

The group has considered the implications of the proposed merger of the Virgin Media group with Liberty
Global, as discussed in Post balance sheet events 1n note 28, on 1ts accounung for deferred tax assets The
group notes that a change n judgment that results in subsequent recognition, derecognition, or change mn
measurement of a tax positton taken 1n a prior annual penod shall be recognised as a discrete item 1n the
period in which the change occurs The group 1s therefore not permitted to consider the impact of the
proposed business combination until 2013 and the recognition of the deferred tax asset discussed above
therefore remains appropriate

It has been announced that the UK corporation tax rates will be decreasing to 21% from Ist April 2014 with
a further 1% decrease to 20% from 1st Apnl 2015 None of these rate reductions have been substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date and therefore therr effect 1s not included n these accounts The impact of a
3% reduction of the corporation tax rate to 20% at the balance sheet date would result in a reduction 1n the
value of recogmised deferred tax assets of £332 9m and a reduction 1n the unrecogmsed deferred tax assets
of £368 3m
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(a) Tax (credit)/expense on profit on ordinary activities

2012 2011
£ million £ million
Current income tax
UK Corporation tax - sn
Foreign taxes 07 -
Deferred income tax - temporary differences (2,5375) 233
(2,536 8) 182

{b) Reconclliation of the total tax (credit)/expense

The tax (credit)expense m the Group Income Statemnent 15 lower than the standard rate of corporalion tax in
the UK of 24 5% (2011 — 26 5%) The differences are reconciled below

2012 2011
£ milhon £ million
Profit before taxation 172 1 191 5
Accounting profit before income tax 172 1 191 S
Accounting profit multiplied by the UK standard rate of corporation 422 507
1ax of 24 5% (2011 - 26 5%)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 19 00
Utilisation of 1ax losses and other deductions (388 6) (84 7)
Tax losses surrendered at less than the standard rate - (51
Decelerated capital allowances 445 2490
Foreign taxes 07 -
Movement 1n deferred tax assets to offset deferred tax habilities (2,537 5) 233
Total 1ax (credit)expense recognised in the group income statement (2,536 8) 18 2
2012 2011
£ million £ million
Deferred tax relating to items credited to equity (154) -
Deferred tax relating to items credited to other comprehensive imcome (264) {23 3)
Tax (credit)/expense 1n the Group Income Statement (2,536 8) 182
(2,578 6) (CHD]
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(c) Recognised deferred tax

Recogrised deferred tax assets less deferred tax habilities are as follows

Deferred tax assets
Net operating losses
Derivative instruments
Depreciation and amortisation
Accrued expenses
Other
Pensions

Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation and amortisation
Total deferred tax hablines

Net deferred tax assets less deferred tax hablities

31 December 2012

Dual

UK resident Total

£ million £ milkon £ milhon
346 7 1859 5326
158 - 158
2,056 6 - 2,056 6
474 - 474
613 - 613
107 07 114
2,5385 186 6 2,7251

- (145 9) (145 9)

- (145 9) (145 9)
25385 407 2,579 2

There was no deferred tax asset recognised at 31 December 2011

See above for further discussion on recognitton of the deferred tax asset

(c) Unrecognised deferred tax

Deferred tax assets i respect of the following amounts have not been recognised as there 1s currently no
persuasive evidence that there will be suntable taxable profits against which these timing differences will

reverse

Tax losses
Capatal losses
Depreciation 1n excess of capital allowances

2012 2011

£ mullion £ million
iz 0 543 0
2,786 0 3,026 0
- 2,113 0

2,824 0 56820
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As at 31 December 2012 the UK corporanon tax rate was 24% A rate reducnion 10 23% was substantively
enacted under the Finance 2012 with effect from | Apnil 2013, and further rate reductions were announced
to be introduced in annual decrements to reduce the rate 10 20% In addition, changes to the capital
allowances regime, including a reduction i the rate of capital allowances on plant and machinery additions
from 20% te 18% with effect from 1 April 2012 These rate changes will affect the amount of future tax
payments to be made by the company The unprovided deferred tax assets have been calculated using the
enacted rates as at 31 December 2012

12 Intangible assets

(a) Summary of intangible assets

Customer

Goodwill hists Total

£ million £ milhon £ mulhon
Cost
At | January 2011 207192 7546 283318
Amounts written off - (754 6) (754 6)
At 31 December 2011 and | January 2012 20792 - 2,079.2
Amounts written off - - -
At 31 December 2012 2,0792 - 2,079.2
Amortisation
At | January 2011 1380 6361 77141
Disposals - - -
Amortisation charge for the year - 1185 118.5
Amounts wnitten off - {154 6) (754 6)
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 1380 - 1380
Amortisation charge for the year - - -
Amounts written off - - -
At 31 December 2012 1380 - 1380
Net book value
At 31 December 2012 1,94( 2 - 1,941 2
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 1,94] 2 - 1,941 2
At 1 January 2011 1,941 2 118 5 2,059 7

Amortisation expense 1s included within administrative expenses in the Group Income Statement
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(5) Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
Goodwill 1s not amortised, but is tested for impairment annually or more frequently 1f circomstances
indicate a possible impairment exists 1n accordance with [AS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’

Goodwilt 1s allocated to vanous Cash Generating Unns (CGUs), wiich are the same as the reporiable
segments of the group

The Virgin Media group’s internal reporting structure and the related financial information is utilised by its
CODM to assess the performance of the busmess At 31 December 2012 there were two operating
segments, Consumer and Business, as detailed in note 4

These operating segments represent the lowest level at which the Virgin Media group momitors goodwill for
mternal management purposes The Consumer and Business CGUs are evaluated for possible impairment
as at 1 October each year

At ! January and 31 December 2011 and 1 January and 31 December 2012 goodwill was allocated as

follows

£ million
Consumer 1,743 2
Business 198 0
Total 1,941 2

Consumer and Business — year ended 31 December 2012

On 5 February 2013, the Virgin Media group entered n 1o a Merger Agreement with Liberty Global, Inc, or
“Laiberty Global”, pursuant to which Liberty Global will acquire the Virgin Media group 1n & stock and cash
merger valued at approximately $23 3 billion, or £14 8 billion as at 5 February 2013 The Merger
Agreement and related transactions were approved by the shareholders of Virgin Media group and Liberty
Global on 4 June 2013 and 3 June 2013, respectively

The Directors consider this valuation represents the fair value less costs to sell of the Virgin Media group,
and 1s a relevant valuation of the Consumer and Business CGUs n the Virgin Media Finance PLC group at
31 December 2012, given the Virgin Media Finance PLC group compnises substantially all of the trade and
assets of the Virgin Media group The Directors also considered the relative fair value less costs to sell for
each of the CGUs 1n the context of the allocation of the overall valuation of the Virgin Media group

On the basis of the level by which the fair value less costs to sell exceed the carrying value of the units,
indications are that the hkehihood of the current recoverable amount determination being less than the
current carrymg amount of the umts would be remote, given
s the assets and liabiliies making up the umits have not changed sigmficantly since the date of the
vatue 1n use calculation from 2011,
* the substantial margin by which the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying value n the 2011
valuation, and
e the analysis of events that have occurred since the date of the merger announcement

See Note 28 for further information in respect of the Merger of the Virgin Media group and Liberty Global

Assumptions used in discounted cash flow projections for 2011 impairment assessment

In esumating cash flows the group uses operating and financial assumptions in its mternal forecastmg
model, such as projected customer numbers, projected product sales mix and price changes, projected
changes in prices paid for purchases of fixed assets and services, as well as projected employee costs
Considerable management judgment 15 necessary to estimate discounted future cash flows and those
estmates include mherent uncertainties, including those relating to the nming and amount of future cash
flows and the discount rate used n the calculation
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Assumptions used n these cash flow projections are consistent with internal forecasts, which are ¢reated 10
reflect both historical trends and also analysis of anticipated market changes If actual results differ from the
assumptions used in the mmpatrment review, additional impairment charges may arise 1n the future
Assumptions made about levels of competition and rates of growth (or decline) 1n the economy on a longer
term basis could impact the valuation to be used tn future annual impairment testing

Consumer ~ year ended 31 December 2011

The recoverable amount of the Consumer CGU at 1| October 2011 was based upon management’s
assessment of the value 1n use, derived from discounted cash flows using mtemal cash flow projections
consistent with internal forecasts

The key assumptions to which the value-in-use calculation 1s most sensitive are the pre-tax discount rate and
the long-term growth rate  The discounted cash flow was performed using a financial forecast for the period
up 10 31 December 2014 approved by management, and discounted a1 a pre-tax rate of 9 28% After that
period cash flows were forecast to grow wn perpetuity by | 0%

Business — year ended 31 December 2011
The recoverable amount of the Business CGU at | October 2011 was based upon management’s assessment

of the value i use, derived frem discounted cash flows using internal cash flow projections consistent with
internal forecasts

The key assumptions to which the value-n-use calculation 1s tnost sensiive are the pre-tax discount rate and
the long-term growth rate  The discounted cash flow was performed using a financial forecast for the period
up to 31 December 2014 approved by management, and discounted at a pre-tax rate of 12 71%  After that
pertod cash flows were forecast to grow in perpetuity by 2 0%

Management beheves that no reasonable possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause
the recoverable amount to be below the carrying value 1t was concluded as a result of these valuation
exercises that no impaiwrment to either the Consumer CGU’s goodwill or the Business CGU’s goodwill was
required for esther year ended 31 December 2012 or 201
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Construction

Network In progress Other Total

£ million £ million £ milkion £ millson
Cast
At | January 2011 9,209 1 1158 1,2522 10,577 1
Additions 41 766 7 262 7970
Transfers 6325 (759 3) 126 8 -
Disposals (436 9) - (11846) {555 5)
At 31 December 201! and | January 2012 9,408 8 1232 1,286 6 10,818 6
Additons - 8805 110 891 5
Transfers 77177 (913 6) 1359 -
Disposals (5158) - (188 2) (704 0)
At 31 December 2012 9,670 7 901 1,245 3 11,006 1
Depreciation
At | January 2011 49111 - 9513 58624
Provided during the year 748 3 - 146 3 894 6
Disposals (422 3) - (1180) (540 3)
At 31 December 2011 and | January 2012 52371 - 979 6 6216 7
Provided during the year 792 8 - 1389 9317
Disposals (499 1) - {184 B) (683 9)
At 31 December 2012 5,530 8 - 9337 6,464 5
Net book value
At 31 December 2012 4,139 9 90 1 3116 4,541 6
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 4,171 7 123 2 3070 4,601 9
At | January 2011 4,298 0 1158 3009 4,714 7

Assets held under finance leases

Included n the net book value of property, plant and equipment 1s £242 7 mitlion (2011 - £239 9 mullion) 1n
respect of assets held under finance leases and simular hire purchase contracts Accumulated depreciation
on these assets 1s £167 1 mulhior (2011 - £151 2 million) and the charge for the year 1s £76 7 million (2011 -
£56 8 million)

Included in ‘Other' are the following net book values of freehold and leasehold land and buildings

2012 2011

£ milhion £ mullion

Freehold 507 530
Leasehold 346 348
Leasehold improvements 22 295
1075 117 3
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(a) Investments in joint ventures

On 30 September 2011, the group completed the sale to Scnpps Network [nteracuve, Inc (“Scripps™) of its
equity ivestment 1n the UKTV joint ventures which was held through its wholly owned subsidiary Flextech
Broadband Limited The aggregate consideration was £349 9 mullion, which mcluded £98 1 million for
Scripps's aequisition of preferred equity, loan stock and other debt  After the inclusion of assocated fees,
this transaction resulted 10 a loss on disposal of £7 2 million in the Group Income Statement

The share of income, expenses and net profit for the period | January 2011 to 30 September 2011 of joint

ventures accounted for using the equity method, were as follows

Period ended
30 September
2011
£ million
Share of the joint ventures’ income statements
Revenue 208
Cost of sales (46 3)
Administrative expenses (200)
Finance costs -
Profit before tax 245
Tax expense 39
Net profit 18 6

(b) Investments in subsidiaries

Details of the principal investments 1n which the group holds at teast 20% of the nominal value of any class
of share capital, all of which are unlhsted, are detailed in note 33 to the group financial statements
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Non-current

Restricted cash

Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps

Current

Foreign currency forward rate contracts
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps

16 Trade and other receivables

Non-current
Prepayments and accrued income

Current

Trade recervables

Amounts owed by parent undertakings
Prepayments and accrued income

Consortium relief due from joint venture investment

Amounts owed by parent undertakings are unsecured and repayable on demand

2012 0n

£ million £ million
19 19

533 1285
1059 81)
1611 2115

- 17

47 76

14 02

61 95
2012 2011

£ millhon £ million
512 508
512 508
3855 3890
933 ¢ 5318
1437 126 4

- 26

1,463 | 1,049 8

Prepayments and accrued income classified as non-current include long term telecommunications contracts

falling due after more than one year

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 day terms and are stated net of
provision for non-recoverability The group's trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators
of impairment and 1t was concluded that a provision for non-recoverability of £9 0 nuthion (2011 - £109
million) was required The carrying value of trade receivables 1s considered to be a fair approximation of
fair value Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows

At | January 2011
Charge for the year
Utihised

At 31 December 2011
Charge for the year
Utilised

At 3t December 2012
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16 Trade and other receivables (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables 1s as follows

Netther
past due nor Balances past due
Total mmpaired <30 days 30-60days 60-90days >50 days
£ million € milhion £ mullion £ millton £ miltion £ million
31 December 2012 3855 2524 641 274 141 275
31 December 2011 3890 276 8 487 2613 103 269
17 Inventories
2012 2011
£ million £ million
Goods for resale 17 5 131
175 131
18 Cash and short term deposits
2012 2011
£ miltion £ mllion
Cash at bank and in hand 170 399
Short-term deposits 178 9 244 0
1959 2839

Cash at bank eams interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates  Short-term deposits are made
for varying penods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the group, and earn interest at the respecteve short-term deposit rates The farr value of cash and cash
equivalents including overdrawn cash book balances at 31 December 2012 was £195 9 mullion (2011 -

£283 9 million)
19 Trade and other payables

2012 0on
£ million £ million

Current
Trade payables 3493 3043
VAT, payroll taxes and social security costs 855 884
Interest payable to parent and group undertakings 909 868
Interest payable 625 tol 4
Amounts owed to group undertakings 1149 818
Accruals and deferred incorne 630 4 644 5
1,333 5 1,307 2

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and normally repayable on terms of up to 120 days Trade
payables, nterest payable and amounts owed to group undertakings are financial habilities which are
excluded from note 20

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured and repayable on demand
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19

20

Trade and other payables (continued)

Non-current
Other long term creditors

Financial liabilities

Current

Current obligations under finance lease and hire purchase
contracts (see note 21)

Current instalments due on mortgage loan

Loan notes due 1o parent undertakings

Loan notes due to group undertakings

Interest rate swaps

Cross-currency interest rate swaps

Non-cuarrent

Non-current obhgations under finance lease and hire purchase
contracts (see note 21)

Non-current mstalments due on mortgage loan

Non-current instalments due on senior credit facility

Semor notes

Senior secured notes

Cross-currency interest rate swaps

Interest rate swaps

Total financial liabiiities

Borrowings at 31 December were repayable as follows

Amounts falling due

Within one year

In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years

Less 1ssue costs

Borrowimmgs amounts falling due after more than one year
Financial habilittes not classed as borrowings

Total financial habilities (above)

2012 2011

£ million £ million
641 848
64 | B4 8
2012 2011

£ milhon £ miltion
71 763

- 03

2620 264 2
170 8 170 8
21 75

60 92
5180 528 3
1519 181 7

- 01

7387 7342
1,803 6 1,694 4
2,5552 2,54513
623 457
396 77
5,3513 5,209 1
5,869 3 57374
2012 2011

£ million £ onllion
4328 4353

- 7501

7500 994 5
4,406 1 3,301 2
5,5889 54811
(58 6) (71 8)
5,53013 54093
3390 3281
5,869 13 5737 4

Financial habihites not classed as borrowings include obligations under finance leases and hire purchase

contracts, interest rate swaps and cross-currency 1nterest rate swaps

Loans not wholly repayable within five years are as follows
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20 Financial liabilities (continued)
2012 20n
£ million £ milhion

Sentor notes 1,824 4 7258
Senior secured notes 2,5817 2,5754
4,406 1 3,301 2

Amounts due to parent and fellow group undertakings

Loan notes due to parent and group undertakings are technically payable on demand as they do not include
an uncondittonal nght to defer payment and hence have been classified as current in accordance with [AS |
‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ However, the Directors are of the opinion that, 1n the ordinary course
of business, repayment within such a time scale 1s unlikely to be required

Sentor notes
2012 2011
£ mithen £ million
Semor notes consist of
U.S. Daliar
9 50% senior notes due 2016 {principal at maturity $1,350 million) - 849 2
8 375% semior notes due 2019 (principal at maturity $507 | mullion) 3093 3806
5 25% semior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity $500 million) 3089 -
4 875% sentor notes due 2022 (principal at maturity $900 milion} 5559 -
1,174 | 1,229 8
Euro
9 50% semor loan notes due 2016 (principal at maturity €180 million) - 145 3
- 1453
Sterling
8 875% senior loan notes due 2019 {principal at maturity £253 5 million) 2503 3452
5 125% semior notes due 2022 (principal at maturnity £400 million) 4000 -
6503 3452
Less 1ssue costs (20 8) 259
Total Sentor notes 1,803 6 1.694 4

In July 2006 Virgin Media Finance PLC i1ssued dollar denominated 9 125% senior notes due 2016, with a
principal emount outstanding of $550 milion The 9 125% senior notes due 2016 were unsecured senior
obligations of Virgin Media Finance PLC and ranked pan passu with Virgin Media Finance PLC’s 9 50%
seruor notes due 2016 and 1its senior notes due 2019 Interest on the 9 125% senior notes due 2016 was
payable on 15 February and 15 August of each year The 9 125% semior notes due 2016 had a matunty date
of 15 August 2016 and were guaranteed on a senior basis by Virgin Media Inc, Virgin Media Group LLC,
Virgin Media Holdings Inc, Virgin Media (UK) Group, Inc and Virgin Media Communications Limited,
and on a sentor subordinated basis by Virgin Media Investment Holdings and Virgin Media Investments
Limited On 26 July 2011 the 9 125% senior notes due 2016 were redeemed by paying £355 8 milhon from
the group’s balance sheet

On 3 June 2009 Virgin Media Finance PLC 1ssued dollar denominated 9 50% senior notes due 2016 with a
principal amount outstanding of $750 mullion and euro dencrminated 9 50% senior notes due 2016 with a
pancipal amount outstanding of €180 mulion. These notes were unsecured semar obligations of the
company and ranked par passy with Vugin Media Finance PLC's outstanding senior notes due 2019
Interest was payable semi-annually on 15 February and 15 August each year On 21 July 2009 Virgmn
Media Finance PLC issued an additwonal $600 mullion aggregate princtpal amount of 9 50% senior notes
due 2016 under the same terms as the notes issued on 3 June 2009 On 28 March 2012, $500 mullion of the
pnncipal amount outstanding of the $1,350 mulhon 9 50% senior notes due 2016 were redeemed by paying
£361 2 milhon, using the net proceeds from the 1ssue of the $500 multion seruor notes due 2022, and cash on
the group’s balance sheet Over the penied 31 October 2012 to 30 November 2012 the remaming $850
milhion prncipal amount outstanding of the $1,350 mithon 9 50% semor notes due 2016 and the €180
million 9 50% semior notes due 2016 were redeemed by paying £751 6 million, using the net proceeds from
the 1ssue of the $900 million and £400 million senor notes due 2022, and cash on the group’s balance sheet
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During November 2009 Virgin Media Finance PLC 1ssued $600 million aggregate principal amount of
8 375% senior notes due 2019 and £350 million aggregate principal amount of 8 875% senior notes due
2019 The senior notes due 2019 are unsecured senior obligations and rank pan passu with Virgin Media
Finance PLC's cutstanding senior notes due 2022 Interest 1s payable on 15 April and 15 October each year
On 9 November 2012, $92 9 mullion of the principal amount of the $600 mtltion 8 375% senior notes due
2019 and £96 5 million of the principal amount of the £350 million 8 875% senior notes due 2019 were
redeemed by paying £179 4 miltion, using the net proceeds from the 1ssue of the $900 mithion and £400
mullion senior notes due 2022, and cash on the group’s balance sheet

On 13 March 2012 Virgm Media Finance PLC 1ssued dollar denominated 5 25% senior notes due 2022 with
a principal amount outstanding of $500 milllon The 5 25% semor notes are unsecured semor obligations of
the company and rank pan passu with Virgin Media Finance PLC’s outstanding semior notes due 2019 and
2022 Interest 1s payable semi-annually on 15 February and 15 August each year

On 30 October 2012 Virgin Media Finance PLC 1ssued dollar denominated 4 875% senior notes due 2022
with a principal amount outstanding of $900 mllion, and sterlng 5 £25% semor notes due 2022 with a
principal amount outstanding of £400 mullion The 4 875% and 5 125% semor notes due 2022 are
unsecured senior cbhpations of the company and rank pan passu with Virgin Media Finance PLC’s
outstanding senior notes due 2019 and 2022 Interest 15 payable semi-annually on 15 February and 15
August each year

Virgin Media Inc, the company's ultimate parent company, and all the intermediate parent undertakings of
the company, guarantee the senior notes on a senior basis Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limuted,
referred 10 as VMIH, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the company, guaraniees the sentor notes on a
semor subordinated basis and has no sigmficant assets of its own other than its investments n its
subsidianies The company has given a full and unconditional guarantee of all amounts payable under the
terms of the sentor credit facility

Senior secured notes
2012 2011
£ milhon £ million
Senior secured notes consist of
U.S. Dollar
6 50% senior secured notes due 2018 (principal at maturity $1,000 million} 6112 6354
5 25% semior secured notes due 2021 {principal at matunty $500 million) 3565 353 1
961 7 988 5
Steriing
7 00% senior secured loan notes due 2018 (principal at maturity £875 million) 8659 864 5
5 50% semior secured loan notes due 2021 (principal at maturity £650 milhon) 754 1 7224
1,6200 1,586 9
Less 1ssue costs (26 5) (301)
Total Semor secured notes 2,5552 2,5453

On 19 January 2010, a wholly owned subsidiary, Virgin Media Secured Finance PLC, 1ssued $1 0 billion
aggregate principal amount of 6 50% semor secured notes due 2018 and £875 million aggregate principal
amount of 7 00% semior secured notes due 2018 Interest 1s payable sers-annually on 15 June and 15
December each year, beginming 15 June 2010 The sentor secured notes due 2018 rank pari passu with the
senior credit facility and, subject to certain exemptions, share in the same guarantees and secunity which has
been granted i favour of the senior credit facility

Omn 3 March 2011, Vugin Media Secured Finance PLC 1ssued $500 million aggregate pninctpal amount of
5 25% senior secured notes due 2021 and £650 milhion aggregate principal amount of 5 50% senor secured
notes due 2021 Interest 1s payable on 15 January and 5 July each year, beginning on 15 July 2011 The
senior secured notes due 2021 rank pari passu with and, subject to certain exceptions, share in the same
guarantees and secunty which have been granted in favour of the semior credit facility and senior secured
notes due 2018
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Senior credit facility
2012 2011
The senior credit facility consists of £ miltion £ million
Sterling 7500 7500
7500 7500
Less current portion - -
7500 7500
Less 1ssue costs (113 {15 8)
Senior credit facility due after more than one year 7387 7342

The principal amount outstanding under the semor credit facility at 31 December 2012 and 31 December
2011 was £750 0 mdhon The semor crednt facihty comprises a term facility denominated 1n pounds
sterling of £750 0 million and a revolving facihity of £450 0 million

At 31 December 2012, £750 0 million (2011 - £750 million) of the term facahity had been drawn and £6 4
mithon (2011 - £5 8 million) of the revolving crednt facthity had been utihised for bank guarantees and
standby letters of credrt

The term credit facility bears interest at LIBOR, plus a margin currently ranging from 1 625% to 2 125%
based on leverage ratios The margins on the revolving credit facility range from 1.325% to 2 125% based
on leverage ratios Interest ts payable at least semi-annually The term credit facility and the revolving credit
facibity are repayable n full on their matunity date, which 1s 36 June 2015

The effective interest rate on the sentor credit facility was 2 4% and 3 3% as at 31 December 2012 and 2011
respectively

On 15 February 2011, the semor credit facility was amended 1o increase operational flexibiliy including,
among other things, changing the required level of total net leverage ratio, increasing financial indebtedness
baskets, and eliminating certain restricions on the use of proceeds of secured indebtedness This
amendment did not have an impact on the amount of debt included on the Group Balance Sheet, but did
serve to modify the amortisation schedule by extending £192 5 mithon of the 30 June 2014 scheduled
amortisation payment to 30 June 2015

In March 2011, the net proceeds from the senior secured notes due 2021 were used to prepay £532 5 rillion
of the Tranche A outstanding under the sentor credit facality, thus eliminating scheduled amortisations m
2011 through 2014, and £367 5 million of the Tranche B outstanding under the semior credit facility that
were scheduled for payment in 2015, with the remainder being used for general corporate purposes

On 20 May 20t ], two new additional facilities under the semor credit facility were entered mnto, comprising
an addiional revolving facihty with total commitments of £4500 million, which replaced the previous
£250 0 millton revolving facility, and an additional term facility with commitments of £750 0 milhon The
new term facility of £750 0 million and £25 0 million of cash was used to repay the loan balance from the
previous term loan, which was compnised of a £467 5 million Tranche A and a £307 5 milhon Tranche B
The matunty date of the facilittes remains at 30 June 2015 Further changes to semor credit facility to
increase operational flexibility were also effected on 27 May 2011

On 12 September 2011 the group borrowed £50 0 million under the revolving facility This was repaid
full on 12 October 2011 On 28 June 2012 the group borrowed a further £100 0 million under the revolving
credit faciity This was repaid in full on 28 September 2012 On 30 November 2012 the group borrowed a
further £75 0 mullion under the revolving credst facility This was repaid m full on 31 December 2042
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The company has given a full and unconditional guarantee of all amounts payable under the terms of the
senior credit facility  In addmon the bulk of the facility 15 secured through guarantees and first prionty
pledges over the shares and assets of substantially all of the group's operating subsidiaries and of receivables
ansing under any inter-company loans to those subsidiaries  The Virgin Media group 1s subject to financial
maintenance tests under the facility, including a test of interest coverage and leverage ratios applied to the
group and certain of 1ts subsidiaries The coverage ratio 15 defined as consohidated operaung cashflow to
consolidated total net interest payable and the leverage ratio 1s consohdated net debt to consolidated
operating cashflow Both tests are applied to consolidated financial statements of the ultimate parent

company, Virgin Media Inc  As of 31 December 2012 the Virgin Media group was n compliance with
these covenants

Restrictions

The agreements governing the senior notes and the semor credit faculity significantly, and, in some cases,
absolutely restrict the group's ability and the ability of most of s subsidianes to

* incur or guarantee additional indebtedness,

* pay dividends or make other distnbutions, or redeem or repurchase equity interests or subordnated
obligations,

* make \nvestments,

+ sell assets, including shares in subsidianes,

+ create liens,

+ enter mto agreements that resmct the restricted subsidianies' ability to pay dividends, transfer assets or
make intercompany loans,

* merge or consohdate or transfer substantially all of the group's assets, and

* entter nto transactions with affiliates
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Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts

The group uses finance leases and hire purchase contracts to acquire plant and equipment These leases
have terms of renewal but no material purchase options or escalation clauses Renewals are at the option of
the lessee  Future minumum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchases contracts are as
follows

2012 2011
£ million £ milion
Future mmimum payments due

Not later than one year 876 918
After one year but not more than five years 1320 147 5
After five years 1525 2408
37121 480 1
Less finance charges allocated to future periods (143 1) (222 )
Present value of mimimum lease payments 2200 2580

The present value of mimimum lease payments 1s analysed as follows

Amounts falling due

Not later than one year 771 76 3
After one year but not more than five years 1138 1139
Afler five years 381 678

226 0 2580

Operating lease agreements where the group is lessee

Future mimimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

Land & buildings Other
2012 2011 2012 2011
£ million £ mllion £ milhon £ milhon
Not later than one year 272 356 131 170
After one year but not more than five years 628 844 294 256
After five years 402 26 4 19 6 220
1302 146 4 62 | 64 6

The group has entered tnto commercial leases on certain properties, motor vehicles and items of machinery
These leases have varied durations as some can be exited with as little as two months notice whlst the terms
of some run indefinitely until notice 1s served 1n respect of property leases the Landlord & Tenants Acts
provides, under most nermal circumstance, automatic nghts for the tenant to renew their lease at expuy at
the current market rent
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23

Property & Waste Electrical

Redundancy contractexit and Electronic Natonal

costs costs Equitpment  Insurance Total
£ mihon £ mithon £ mihon £ mhon £ mithon

At 31 December 2011 & 1 January 2012
Current 20 29 50 56 155
Non-current - 104 1 44 6 38 152§
20 1070 496 94 1680
Estabhshed during the year 01 18 123 129 271
Used duning the year 20) @9 - 49 (118)
Revisions in cashflow eshmaies - 372 (149) - (521)
Movement 1n discount rate - 51 20 - 71
At 31 December 2012 01 718 490 174 1383

Analysed as

Current 01 01 33 134 169
Non-current - 717 457 40 1214
01 718 4990 174 138 3

Redundancy costs

Durning 2008 the Virgin Media group commenced the implementation of a restructuring plan aimed at
driving further improvements in operational performance and eliminating inefficiencies sn order to create a
fully-integrated, customer focused organisation

Property & contract exit costs

Property and contract exit costs relate primanly to the restructuring plan described above There are a large
number of properttes to which the provision relates, with a wide range of remaiming lease terms The
majonty of the costs are expected to be incurred over the next 25 years

Waste Electrical & Electromic Equipment (WEEE)

The provision for the asset retirement obligatton in respect of WEEE 15 calculated based on the total
equipment purchased, its expected useful economic life and the anticipated cost of disposal Costs in
relation to disposal of WEEE are expected to be incurred over the next 5 years

Nattonal Insurance

Provision has been made for National Insurance contmbutions on share options and restricted stock unit
grants, which are expected to be exercised The provision has been calculated based on Virgin Media Inc ’s
closing share price at 31 December 2012 and the exercise price of the options and 15 being allocated over the
date of the award to the date that the employee will become unconditionally entitled to the options, which 1s
expected to be the next 5 years

Financial Risk Maragement Objectives and Policies

The group's principal financial habilities, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans (senior credit facihty),
mortgage loans, sentor notes, senor secured notes, finance leases, trade payables, hire purchase contracts
and loans made to parent and fellow group undertakings With the exception of trade payables the mam
purpose of the financial habihities 1s to raise finance for the Virgin Media group's operations  The group has
vanous financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short-term deposits, which anse directly from
1ts operations

The group 15 exposed to various market nsks, including credit risk, foreign exchange rate risk, liquidity nsk
and interest rate nsk  Market risk 15 the potential loss ansing from adverse changes in market rates and
prnices As some of the group's indebtedness accrues interest at vanable rates there 1s exposure to volatility
n future cash flows and earmings associated with variable interest payments
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Also, substantially all of the group revenues and costs (excluding interest) are eamed and paid 1n pounds
sterling, but interest and principal obligations on some indebtedness are 1n US dollars and euros As a
result the group has exposure to volatility 1n future cash flows and earmings associated with changes m
forergn exchange rates on payments of interest and principal amounts on a portion of its indebtedness

To mutigate the risk from these exposures the group has implemented a cash flow hedging programme  The
objective is to reduce the volatility of the group’s cash flows and earnings caused by changes in underlying
rates To achieve this objective the group has entered into a number of dervauve financial instruments
which comprise interest rate swaps, cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreigh currency forward
contracts The group has not entered into any denvatives for trading or speculative purposes

The main nsks ansing from the group's financial iabilihies are described below

Interest rate risk

The group 1s subject to interest rate nisk because 1t has substantia} indebtedness at variable rates of interest
At 31 December 2012, before taking into account hedging instruments, wnterest s determined on a vanable
basis on £750 million (2011 - £750 mullion) or 14% (2011 - 14%) of indebtedness, relaung solely to
amounts drawn down on the senior credit facility The group aims to reduce the volatlity of wts cash flows
and earmings as a result of fluctuations in interest rates through the use of derivative financial instruments

Interest rate risk profile of financial assets
The group’s financial assets include cash on money market deposit al call, seven day and monthly rates, and
amounts owed by parent undertakings charged at vanable interest rates

Sensitiviy analysis of changes in interest rates

Interest rate risks are presented by way of a sensitivity analysis in accordance with [FRS 7 ‘Financial
Instruments Disclosures’ These show the effects of changes in market interest rates on interest payments,
Interest income and expense, other components and, as appropriate, shareholders' equity The interest rate
sensitivity analyses are based on the following assumptions

Changes in market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fixed nterest rates only affect
mcome If measured at far value  As such, all financial instruments with fixed interest rates that are carried
at amortised cost are not subject to interest rate nisk as defined by IFRS 7

Changes i market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-denvative variable-interest
financial instruments, the interest payments of which are not designated as hedged mems of cash flow
hedges against interest rate risks  As a consequence, they are included in the calculatton of interest rate
sensimvities

Changes in the market interest rate of interest rate derivatives {interest rate swaps and cross-currency
nterest rate swaps) that are not part of a hedging relationship as set out in 1AS 39 ‘Financial Instruments
Recogmion and Measurement” affect gains or losses on derivatives and are therefore taken into
consideration 1n the calculation of interest rate sensitivities

Foreign currency forward rate contracts are not subject to mnterest rate risks and therefore do not affect
interest rate sensitivities

Based on debt at 31 December 2012, including amounts owed to and due from parent and group
undertakings, and taking into constderation hedging mnstruments, a 0 25% movement in market interest rates
would result 1n an annual increase or decrease 1 the gross interest expense of £3 1 million (2011 - a 0 25%
change would have resulted in a movement of £4 6 mullion) Movements in gross interest expense would be
recognised mn finance revenue and finance costs in the Group Income Statement
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Foreign currency exchange rate risk

The group 15 also subject to foreign currency exchange risks, because substantially all of its revenues and
operating expenses are denominated in pounds sterling, but interest and principal obligations with respect to
a pornon of its \ndebtedness 15 denominated n U S dollars  To the extent that the pound declines in value
against the U S dollar, the effective cost of servicing U 8 dollar denominated debt will be higher Changes
in the exchange rate result in foreign currency gains or losses

As of 31 December 2012 the group had £2,135 & mullion, or 41% of external indebtedness, denominated in
US dollars (sce note 20) The group has a programme n place to mitigate the risk of losses arising from
adverse changes m foreign currency exchange rates which uses a number of dervatve financial
instruments ‘When taking into consideration foreign currency forward rate contracts, all external debt 15
hedged against foreign currency exchange rate nsk

For the year ended 31 December 2012 the group had foreign currency losses of £36 7 milbon (2011 - gains
of £2 1 million) The losses for the year ended 31 December 2012 were primarily due to foreign exchange
movements between the 1ssuance of the $500m U S dollar denominated sentor notes due 2022 on 13 March
2012, and the redemption of $500m of the US dollar denominated semior notes duee 2016 on 28 March
2012

It 15 the Virgin Media group’s policy not to hedge against inter-company debt using derivative financial
instruments At 31 December 2012 the group had £94 2 million of euro denomunated mnter-company
Liabilties (201! - £96 3 milhon) The group also had £908 3 million of US dollar denominated inter-
company receivables (2011 - £522 7 million)

Sensitivity analysis of changes n foreign currency exchange raies

For the presentation of market nisks, IFRS 7, ‘Fiancial Instruments Disclosures' requires sensmivity
analysis that shows the effects of hypothetical changes of foreign currency exchange rates of relevant risk
variables on profit or loss and shareholders' equity The periodic effects are determmed by relating the
hypothetical changes in risk variables to the balance of financial instruments at the reporting date It 1s
assumed that the balance at the reporting date 15 representative of the year as a2 whole

Currency nisks are defined by IFRS 7 as anising on account of financial instruments bemng denominated 1n a
currency other than the functional currency and being of a monetary nature Relevant risk variables are
generally all non-functional currencies in which the group has financial hiabihties, excluding amounts due to
parent undertakings

The currency sensitivity analysis 1s based on the following assumptions

Major non-denvative monetary financial instruments (Liquid assets, receivables and finance lease liabilities)
are directly denomnated n the functional currency There are therefore no foreign exchange fluctuations in
respect of these instruments which have an effect on profit or loss or shareholders' equity Interest mcome
and expense from financial istruments are also either recorded in the functional currency or transferred to
the functional currency using derivatives

The group has a number of denivative mstruments with various counterparties 1o manage 1ts exposure to
changes 1n foreigh currency exchange rates Some of these are currency derivatives that are part of an
effective cash flow hedge for hedging payment fluctuations resulting from exchange rate movements n
accordance with 1AS 39 Exchange rate fluctuations of the currencies on which these transactions are based
affect the hedging reserve in sharcholders’ equity and the fair value of these hedging transactions
Exchange rate fluctuations, on which the financial instruments are based, affect gains or losses on
denvatives in the finance revenue or finance costs lines, respectively, of the Group Income Statement
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the Sterling against U S
dollar and euro exchange rates with all other vanables remaining constant, ef the group's profit before tax
(due to foreign exchange translation of monetary assets and tiabilities and the fair value movements on cash
flow hedges) and the group's equity (due 10 changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges)

Increase/
decrease in Effect on
Sterling US profit/(loss) Effect
doliar/Euro rate before tax on Equity
£ million £ million
2012
Sterling/U S dollar +20% 356 0 (486 3)
Sterling/U S dellar -20% {333 9) 7265
2011
Sterling/U S dollar +20% 369 7 (493 7)
Sterhng/U S dollar -20% (554 6) 743 4
Sterling/euro +20% 242 (36 8)
Sterhing/euro -20% (36 3) 550

Liquidity risk and capital management

The company 15 a wholly owned subsidiary and its ultimate parent company is Vigin Media Inc  Capital
management policies are operated at a Vurgin Media group level by the management of Virgin Media Inc
The agreements that govern the Virgin Media group's indebtedness set out financial maintenance tests and

restrictive covenants, and it 1s the policy of the Virgin Media group to maintain adequate headroom against
these tests and covenants

As of 31 December 2012 the group had £5,326 5 nulhion of external debt (including finance leases and net
of deferred finance costs) outstanding, compared to £5,232 3 million as of 31 December 2011 and cash and
cash equivalents of £195 9 million compared to £283 9 mullion at 31 December 2011

The principal amount outstanding under the semior credit facility at 31 December 2012 and 31 December
2011 was £750 0 million The senior credit facility comprises a term facility denominated in pounds steriing
of £750 0 million and a revolving facihity of £450 0 million At 31 December 2012, £750 0 mullion (2011 -
£750 mullion) of the term facility had been drawn and £6 4 mullton (2011 - £5 8 million) of the revolving
credit facility had been utilised for bank guarantees and standby letters of credit

The Virgin Media group's business 1s capital intensive and the Virgin Media group 1s highly leveraged The
Virgin Medsa group has significant cash requirements for operating costs, capital expenditure and interest
expense The level of the Virgin Media group’s capual and operating expenditures are affected by
significant amounts of capital required to connect customers to the network, expand and upgrade the
network and offer new services Cash on hand, together with cash from operations and an undrawn credit
facility, are expected to be sufficient for the Virgin Media group's cash requirements through to 30 June
2014 The Virgin Media group has sigmficant scheduled repayments that may need to be financed through
means other than relance on cash flow from operations, such as raising additional debt or equity,
refinancing the existing facility, possible sale of assets or other means It may not be possible to obtain
financing, or sell assets at all, or on favourable terms, or the terms of the senior credit facthity or semior notes
may prevent the Virgin Media group from mcumng addittonal indebtedness or selling assets However,
significant steps have been taken to defer repayments or make additional prepayments as described below
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On 13 March 2012 Virgin Media Finance PLC, 1ssued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 5 25%
senior nates due 2022 at par The proceeds of $495 5 mullion, net of fees, were received on 13 March 2012
Interest 1s payable on |5 February and 15 August each year, beginning on 15 August 2012 The senior notes
due 2022 rank pan passu with Virgin Media Finance PLC's outstanding senior notes due 2019 and 2022 On
28 March 2012, the group used the net proceeds from these new semior notes, and cash on 1ts balance sheet,
to redeem $500 million of the principal amount of the $1,350 million 9 50% semor notes due 2016 The
group recognised a loss on extungwshment of debt of £59 1 milhion as a result of this redemption, which
represented the difference between the consideration paid to redeem $500 million of the 9 50% senior notes
due 2016 and the carrying value of those notes, and the write-off of associated deferred finance costs

On 30 October 2012, Virgin Media Finance PLC, issued $900 million aggregate principal amount of
4 875% senior notes due 2022 at par and £400 milhion aggregate principal amount of 5 125% senior notes
due 2022, at par The proceeds of $893 0 mulhion and £396 9 million, net of fees, were recewved on 30
October 2012 Interest 1s payable on 13 February and 15 August each year, beginning on 15 February 2013

The senior notes due 2022 rank part passu with Virgin Media Finance PLC's outstanding senior notes due
2019 and 2022 The group used the net proceeds to redeem in full the outstanding $850 million and €180
mutlion 9 50% senior notes due 2016 and to redeem $92 9 million of the principal amount of the $600
million 8 375% senior notes due 2019 and £96 5 million of the princtpal amaunt of the £350 million 8 875%
senior notes due 2019 The group recognised a loss on extinguishment of debt of £130 7 mithion as a result
of these redemptions, which represented the difference between the consideration paid to redeem the
respective notes and the carrying value of those notes, and the wnte-off of associated deferred finance costs

As a result of the refinancing sieps described above, and in the prior year, the group no longer has any
scheduled principal payments on its senior notes and senior credit faciliry until 2015 However, 1f the group
was unable to meet the prepayment condition or service these obligations through cash flows from
operations, then 1t would need to secure addinonal funding such as raising additional debt or equity,
refinancing the existing facility, selling assets or using other means |t may not be possible to obtan
financing or sell assets, at all or on favourable terms, or the group may be contractually prevented by the
terms of 1ts senior notes or senior credit facshty from incurring additional indebtedness or selling assets
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A matunity analysis of financial Liabilities, outstanding at 31 December 2012, showing the remamning
contractual undiscounted amounts payable, including interest commitments, 1s shown below

Less Greater than
than L year 1to5 years 5 years Total
2012 £ milhon £ mlhon £ mulhon £ milhon
Semior credit facility, senior notes, sentor
secured notes and mortgage loans 2797 1,798 6 4,746 | 6,824 4
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 876 1320 1525 3721
Derivative contracts 81 399 620 1100
2011
Senior credit facility, sentor notes, semor
secured notes and mortgage loans 3313 2,969 2 3,706 0 7,006 5
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 918 147 5 2408 480 1
Derivative contracts 167 534 - 701

The above amounts exclude other financial habthnes, such as trade payables, which are all repayable 1n less
than one year Amounts owed to parent and group undertakings have also been excluded as they are
repayable on demand

Credit risk

Credit risk 1s the rigk that one party 10 a financial instrument wll cause a financial loss for the other party by
faihing 1o discharge an obligation The group's financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of
credit sk constst primanly of cash, trade receivables and derivative contracts

At 31 December 2012, the group had £195 9 milhion (2011 - £283 9 million) (n cash and cash equivalents

These cash and cash equivalents are on deposit with a number of major financial institutions and, as part of
the Virgin Media group's cash management process, regular evaluations of the credit standing of these
instiutions are performed using a range of metrics The group has not expenenced any losses in cash
balances and management do not believe 11 1s exposed 1o any sigmficant credit nisk on 1ts cash balances

Concentrations of credit nsk with respect to trade receivabies are limited because of the large number of
customers and their distribution across a wide geographic area The Virgin Media group performs penodic
credic evaluations of its Business customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral

No single group or customer represents greater than 10% of total accounts receivable

Concentrations of credit nisk with respect to derivative contracts are focused within a hmited number of
mtemnational financal instituons with which the Virgin Media group transacts and relate only to
denvatives with recorded asset balances The Virgin Media group performs regular reviews of the financial
mstiutions with which 1t transacts as to their credit worthiness and financial condiion The group ncludes a
credit nsk adjustment based upon the credit default swap spread in the valuation of derivative instruments,
however, the group does not expect there to be any significant non-performance nsks associated with its
counterparties
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Dervative Instruments and Hedging Activitzes - financial risk management

The company and group have obligations in a combuination of U S dollars and sterling at fixed and vanable
nterest rates  As a result the group 1s exposed to vanability in its cash flows and earmimgs resulting from
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates

The group's objective in managing 1ts exposure to nterest rate and foreign cwrrency exchange rates is to
decrease the volatlhity of its earnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates  The group
has estabhshed policies and procedures to govern these exposures and has entered into denvative financiat
nstruments including interest rate swaps, cross-curréncy interest swaps and foreign currency forward rate
contracts [t 1s the group's policy not to hedge agaiwnst inter-company debt denominated in foreign
currencies, however, subsidiaries of Virgin Media Finance PLC hold financial instruments which hedge the
foreign currency risk of debt i1ssued by 1ts ultinate parent company Virgin Media Inc It 1s the group's
policy not to enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative irading purposes, nor to entér into
derivative financial tnstruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that 15 greater than the exposure to
be managed The amounts below include amounts relating to short term as well as long term creditors

The fair values of derivative financial instruments recorded n the Group Balance Sheet are shown n notes
15 (Financial assets) and 20 (Financial liabilites)

The fair values of derivative financial instruments recogmsed in the Group Balance Sheet are as follows

2012 2011
£ million £ million
Included within current assets
Cash flow hedges
Foreign currency forward rate contracts - ol
Derrvatives not designated as hedges
Foreign currency forward rate contracts - 16
Interest rate swaps 14 02
Cross-currency nterest rate swaps 47 76
6 1 93
Included within non-current assets
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps 1059 780
Cross-currency mnterest rate swaps 363 94 2
Derrvatives not designated as hedges
Interest rate swaps - 31
Cross-currency Interest rate swaps 170 343
1592 209 6
Included within current liabiltties
Dervatives not designated as hedges
Interest rate swaps 21 75
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 60 92
81 16 7
Included wubun non-current Liabilities
Cash flow hedges
Cross-ciltTency Interest rate swaps 620 73
Derrvatives not designated as hedges
[nterest rate swaps 396 384
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 03 77
101 9 534
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Cross-currency interest rate swaps - hedging the principal and 1nterest payments of Senior Notes and
senior credst facility

The terms of the group’s outstanding cross-currency intérest rate swaps, used to mitigate the miterest and
foreign exchange rate nsks relating to the pound sterhing value of principal and interest payments on U §
dollar denominated sentor notes and semor secured notes at 31 December 2012, were as follows

N 1 Notoaal Weighted Werghted ‘
amount amount aversge mierest sverage interest |
Matunty date due from dueto  rate due from rate due to
Hedged 1tem af hedge Hedge type counterparty counte rparty counterparty couaterparty
N / t due tn US doll $ nulhon £ mnlbon
$1 000m senuor notes due 2016 November 2016 Not designated 1,0000 5169 6 50% 6NY%
$507 lm semor notes due 2019 Orctober 2019 Cash flow 264 ) 1598 8 38% 9 03%
$507 1m semor notes due 2019 Oxctaber 2011 Cash flow 2337 1425 3 38% 203%
to October 2019
$1 000m semor secured notes due 2018 Jpnuary 2018 Cach flow 1,0000 6157 6 50% 702%
$500m semtor secured notes due 2021 January 2021 Far value 5000 3089 325% 6 month
LIBOR +1 94% !
$500m semor notes due 2022 February 2022  Cash flow 5000 3136 $25% 5 80%
$900m semior nates due 2022 February 2022 Cash flow 9000 5600 4 38% 511%
44000 26174
Notional smount due in eares € mudhon £ mallicn
Onher December 2013 Not destgnated 433 s 3 month 3 month
EURIBCR LIBOR +3 26%
+283%
433 308
Notionol tdue inp ds sterfing £ million € malhion
Other December 2013 Not designated 97 433 3 month 3 month
LIBOR +2 90% EURIBOR )
+2 B8% \
291 433 .

All of the cross-currency interest rate swaps include exchanges of the notional amount at the start and end of

the contract except for the contracts maturing in November 2016 hedging the $1,000 millhion senior notes
due 2016

On 29 March 2012, the cross-currency nterest rate swaps hedgung the $500 million ¢ 50% senior notes due
2016 were settled, and the group received net cash of £2 3 milion  The group also entered into new cross-
currency interest rate swaps to mitigate the foreign exchange rate nsk associated with the $500 milbion
5 25% senior notes due 2022

Over the penod 31 October 2012 to 30 November 2012, the cross-currency interest rate swaps on the $850

million 9 50% semtor notes due 2016, the €180 mullion 9 5% semor notes due 2016, and $100 mullion of the

$600 million pnncipal 8 375% senior notes due 2019 were settled, and the group made net paymenis of cash I,

of £28 3 milhon The group also entered mnto new cross-currency interest rate swaps to mitigate the foreign

exchange rate nsk associated with the $900 million 4 875% senior notes due 2022
|
|
|

Interest rate swaps - hedging of interest rate sensitive obligations

As of 31 December 2012, the group had outstanding interest rate swap agreements to manage the exposure
to vanability 1n future cash flows on the interest payments associated with 1ts semor credit faciity which
accrues at vanable rates based on LIBOR The group has also entered into tntersst rate swap agreements to
manage Its exposure to changes in the fair value of certain debt obligations due to interest rate fluctuations
The nterest rate swaps allow the group to receive or pay interest based on three or six month LIBOR mn
exchange for payments or receipts of interest at fixed rates
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Lhe wrms of the group’s outstandmy interest, #te swap conltaas at 31 Decenyber 2912 were as loltens

Werghted Waghted

average inlerest  average mtenest

Matwrity date Notionsl rate due from rate due to

Hedged ntem of hedge Hedge type amoust  counterparty  counterparty
£ mlkon

Semor credit facelity July 2012 to December 2015 Not designated 6000 6 month LIBOR 286%

£650m semor scoured notes due 2021 January 2021 Fair value 6500 550% 6 month LEBOR

+1834%

Other March 2013 Not designated 3000 3 month LIBOR 328%

Other March 2013 Not designated 3000 1 86% 3 month LIBOR

Foreign Currency Forward Rate Contracts - hedging of committed and forecast transactions

At 31 December 2012 the group had outstanding foreign currency forward rate contracts to purchase U S
dollars to hedge commutted and forecast purchases The terms of the group’s autstanding foreign currency
forward rate contracts at 31 December 2012 were follows

Notional Weighted

amoant average interest Weighted

Matunty date due from due from nerage

Hedged tem of bedge Hedge type counterparty  counterparty  cxchange rate
S mlhon £ mxihon

Commutted and forecast purchases  January 2013 to June 2013 Not desgnated 720 445 16177

Cash flow hedges

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the
gain or loss on derivatives 1s reported as unreahsed gains and losses in the Group Statement of
Comprehensive Income and reclassified into earmings in the same period or penods during which the
hedged transactions affect earnings

Gamns or losses representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the
assessment of effectiveness are recogmised as gamns or losses on derivative instruments in the Group Income
Statement 1n the period in which they occur  During the year ended 31 December 2012 no gain or loss
relating to meffectiveness was recogmsed (2011 —no gain or loss)

The following table presents the effective amount of gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income
and amounts reclassified to earmings duning the year ended 3 | December 2012

Cross Forward
currency foreign
Interestrate nterest rate exchange
Total swaps swaps contracts  Tax effect
£ million £ milion £ million £ million £ million
Balance at 31 December 2011 (329 i3 (252) 01 {10 6)
Amounts recognised in Statement of
Comprehensive Income {141 9) - 419 - -
Amounts reclassified to carmings mmpacting
Foreign exchange losses 853 - 853 - -
Interest expense 90 - 90 - -
Operating costs (0 1) - - on
(47 7) - {47 6) o1 -
Tax effect recognised 157 - - - 157
Balance at 31 December 2012 (64 4) 33 (72 8) - 51
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Fair value hedges

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as far value accounting hedges, the gain or loss
on derivatives 15 recognised 1n profit or loss in the period 1n which they occur, together with any changes in
the fair value of the hedged debt obligations due to changes in the hedged risks

Gains or losses representing either hedge meffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the
assessment of effectiveness are recogmised as gains or losses on denvative instruments in the Group Income
Statement in the pertod i which they occur  Duning the year ended 31 December 2012 the Group
recogrused an effectiveness loss totalling £4 2 mullion (2011 — gain of £3 7 reullon)

Fair values of financial assets and habilities

Set out below 1s a companison by category of carrying values and fair values of the group's financial assets
and financial liabihnies, where different, as at 31 December

2012 1012 2011 2011
Carrying value Fair velue Carrying value Fair value
£ milion £ millson £ million £ mithon
Semor credit facihty (7500) {7500) (7500) (750 0)
950% U S dollar senior notes due 2016 - - (8492) (966 4)
9 50% euro senior notes due 2016 - - (145 3} {70 n
8375% U S dolar semor notes due 2019 (309 3) (357 6) (380 6) 4169
8 875% pound sterling senior notes due 2019 (250 3) (287 7} (3452) (378 9)
525%U S dollar senior notes due 2022 (308 9) 3219 - -
4 875% U S dollar senior notes due 2022 (5559 (571 %) - -
$ 125% sterling semor notes due 2022 (400 0) (409 0) - -
6 30% U S dollar semior secured notes due 2018 6I12) (681 6) (6354) (663 %)
7 00% pound sterling seruor secured notes due 2018 (865 9) (945 8) (864 5) 923 1)
5% 50% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2021 (754 1) (7249) (722 4) (640 3)
525% U S dollar senior secured notes due 2021 (350 5) {360 %) (353 1) (321 8)

The carryng values of amounts not listed above approximate thesr fair values

The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair vatue of financial
instruments by valuation technique

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or habiliies

Level 2 Unadjusted quoted prices i active markets for similar assets or lhabilities, or
Unadjyusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or Labilities 1n markets that are not active,
or
Inputs ether than quoted prices that are cbservable for the asset or liabahiry

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or hability

The group endeavours to utilise the best available information 1n measunng fair value Financial assets and
liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that 15 sigmificant to the far value
measurement The group has determined that all of its financial assets and Liabilities that are stated at fair
value fall in levels 1 and 2 in the fair value hierarchy described above
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As at 31 December 2012, the fair value of the financial instruments held by the group 1s as follows

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ mithon £ million £ million £ milhon
Financual assets at fair value

Cash, short term deposits and restricted cash 1978 - - 197 8
Cross-currency interest rale swaps - 580 - 580
interest rate swaps - 107 3 - 1073
1978 165 3 - 3631

Financial habihines at fair value
Senior Notes 1,9478 - - 1,947 8
Senior Secured Notes 2,7128 - - 2,712 8
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 683 - 68 3
Interest rate swaps - 447 - 417
4,660 6 1100 - 4,770 6

In estimating the fair value of other financial instruments, the group used the following methods and
assumptions

Cash and short term deposits, and restricted cash  The carrying amounts reported 1n the Group Balance
Sheet approximate fair value due to the short maturity and nature of these financial instrurments

Dervatrve financial instruments  As a result of the group's financing activities, 1t 15 exposed to market risks
from changes 1n interest and forewgn currency exchange rates, which may adversely affect its operating
results and financial position When deemed appropnate, the group msmmses nsks from interest and
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations through the use of derivative financial mstruments The foreign
currency forward rate contracts, interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are valued using
broker quotations, or market transactions in either the histed or over-the counter markets, adjusted for non-
performance risk As such, these derivative instruments are classified within level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy The carrying amounts of the group's derivative financial instruments are disclosed above

Semor Notes and Sentor Secured Notes The fair values of the semor notes and semor secured notes in the
above table ere based on the quoted market prices in active markets for the underlying third party debt and
Incorporates non-performance risk  Accordingly, the mputs used to value the semor notes and semeor
secured notes are classified within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy

The carrying values of the $500 million 5 25% and £650 million 5 50% semior secured notes due 2021
include inceeases of £42 9 million and £109 | million, respectively, at 31 December 2012, and increases of
£45 7 million and £77 9 million, respectively, at 31 December 201 1, as a result of the group’s application of
fair value hedge accountng to these instruments

During the year, there were no transfers between level | and level 2 far value measurements, and no
transfers into or out of the level 3 fair value measurements

25 Authorised and issued share capital

2012 2011
£'000 £'000
Authorised
5,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 5,000 5,000
Allorted, called up and fully paid
92,456 ordinary shares of £1 each 92 92
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The company Is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Inc  Consequently, the company has
no share-based compensation plans The group's directors and certain of 1ts employees participate in the
share-based compensation plans of Virgin Media Inc , as summansed below

Virgin Media Stock Incentive Plans

The Vigin Media Stock Incentive Plans are intended to encourage Virgin Media Inc share ownership by
employees and directors so that they may acquire or mncrease their proprietary mnterest in the Virgin Media
group, and to encourage such employees and directors to remamn 1 the group's employ or service and to put
forth maximum efforts for the success of the business To accomplish such purposes, the plans provide that
Virgin Media [nc may grant incentive share options, non-quahfied share options, shares of restricted stock,
restricted stock units, performance shares and share awards

Virgin Media Sharesave Plan

The Virgin Media Sharesave Plan 1s a broad based share option arrangement which enables ehgible
employees 10 receive options to purchase shares of Virgin Media Inc 's common shares at a discount
Employees are invited to take out savings contracts that last for three, five or seven years At the end of the
contract employees use the proceeds of these savings to exercise options granted under the plan

Stock option grants

All options have a 10 year term and vest and become fully exercisable within 5 years of continued
employment The group accounts for the Virgin Media Stock Incentive Plan under the fair value
recogmtion provisions of IFRS 2 — "Share-based Payment”

The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pncing
mode] with the following weighted average assumptions

Year ended 31 December 2002 2011
Risk-free Interest Rate 073% 181%
Expected Dividend Yield 0 66% 0 63%
Expected Volathty 49 96% 58 10%
Expected Lives of Optioas (years) 47 53

The expected hife of the options 15 based on historical data and 15 not necessanly indicative of exercise
patterns that may oceur The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical realised volatility
of the ulumate parent company's shares, matched to the expected life of the option, 1s indicative of future
trends, which may not necessanly be the actual outcome

A summary of the activity and related informanion of the Virgin Meda share option grants relaung 10
employees of the group, outstanding as of 31 December 2012, pursuant to the share incentive plans and the
Virgin Media Sharesave Plan, and of the changes duning the year ended 3| December 2012 15 given below

Share options 2012
Virgin Media Weighted
Share Incentive Sharesave Average
Plans Plan Total Exercise Price
Qutstanding - 1 January 2012 10,064,470 2,667,510 12,731,980 $1643
Granted 1n year 1,441,434 - 1,441,434 $24 36
Exercised (2,190,367) (872,429) (3,062,796) 51377
Exprred (5.239) (162,275) (167,514) $1779
Forfeited (653,602) (40,704) (694,306) $20 89
Outstanding - 31 December 2012 8,656,696 1,592,102 10,248,798 $1833
Exercisable at end of the year 3,820,333 29,290 3,849.623 51814
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A summary of the Virgin Media share option granis outstanding relating to employees of the group as of 31
December 2011, pursuant to the share incentive plans and the Virgin Media Sharesave Plan, and of the
changes during the year ended 31 December 2011 1s given below

Share options 2011

Virgin Media Welghted

Share Incentve Sharesave Average

Plans Plan Total Exercise Price

Quistanding - | January 2011 13,429,280 3,201,115 16,630,395 $14 67
Granted in year 1,658,843 1,176,735 2,835,578 $23 04
Exercised (3,351,686) (1,472,728) (4,824,414) $14 51
Expired (221,003) (65,847) (286,850) $21 44
Faorferted (1,450,964) (171,765)  (1,622,729) $14 72
Outstanding - 31 December 2011 10,064,470 2,667,510 12,731,980 $16 43
Exercisable at end of the year 3,735,200 - 3,735,200 $18 70

The options exercisable at 31 December 2012 had a weighted average remaining contractual term of 5 07
years (2011 — 5 68 years) and the options outstanding at the year end had a weighted average remaining
term of 6 71 years (2011 — 5 07 years)

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised 1n 2012 was $27 28 (2011
-%2817)

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year ended 31 December 2012 was $9 71
(2011 - $1039) The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at 31 December 2012 was $3 98 to
$30 64 (2011 - $0 02 to $30 64)

For performance based option grants the performance objectives are set by the Compensation Comumittee of
the Board of Directors of Virgin Medra Inc based upon quantitative and qualitative objectives, including
earnings and stock price performance, amongst others These objectives may be absolute or relative to prior
performance or to the performance of other entities, indices or benchmarks and may be expressed in terms
of progression within a specific range

Restricied stock grants

2012 2011
Weighted Weighted
Average Grant Average Grant
Shares Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value
Non vested - beginning of year 312,500 $1071 437,500 sis?
Granted - - - -
Vested (303,050) $1072 (114,596) 51366
Forfeited {9,450) $1030 (10,404) $14 28
Non vested at end of the year - - 312,500 $10 71

Restieted stock grants are 1ssued with certain restrictions attached, which can be erther service-based or
performance related For performance related restricted stock grants the performance objectives are set by
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Virgin Media Inc based upon quantitative and
qualitative objectives, including earmings and stock price performance, amongst others These objectives
may be absolute or relative to pnor performance or to the performance of other entittes, indices or
benchmarks and may be expressed n terms of progression within a specific range The fair value for
restricted stock grants 1s determined using the share price at the date of grant At 31 December 2012, there
were no non-vested shares of restricted stock
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Restricted stock unit grants

2012 2011

Weighted Weighted

Perfomance Average Grant Perfomance Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value

Non vested - beginning of year 4,078,675 1496 5,179,451} §1229
Granted 1,522,494 $24 45 1,570,471 $20 27
Vested (1,015,523) $9 10 (974,239) $12 16
Forfeited (395,478) $18 16 (1,697,008) $13 34
Non vested at end of the year 4,190,168 $£19 53 4,078,675 514 96

Participants in the Virgin Media group's long term incentive plans are awarded restncted stock units or
performance shares which vest after a three year period dependent on the achievernent of certain long term
performance targets and continued employment The final number of restricted stock units vesting will be
settled, ar the Compensatnion Commuttee's discretion, m either shares in the u!timate parent company or an
amount of cash equivalent to the fair market value at the date of vesting

In 2010, the Compensation Commutiee introduced a relative stock performance measure to the stock
incentive plan The vesting of a proportion of restricted stock umits under the 2010-2012, 2011-2013 and
2012-20!4 long term mcentive plans are subject to a relative Total Shareholder Value (“TSV™) performance
measure The measure 15 based on a companson of Virgin Media Inc 's stock price growth with that of a
comparator group of orgamsattons selected by the Compensation Commuttee

The fair values of the restricted stock units containing a market condiuon were estimated at the date of grant
using the Monte Carlo simulation model with the following assumptions

Year ended 31 December 2012 2011
Risk-free Interest Rate 0312%-2082% (093% -2 54%
Expected Dividend Yield 0 66% 0 64%
Expected Volatility of Virgin Media Inc shares 39 36% 69 58%
Expected Volatility of Selected Comparator Group Shares 17 11% - 44 74% 25 85% - 59 67%
Expected Lives (years) 293 293

The expected hfe of the restnicted stock units 15 based on the stated performance penod  Actual historical
changes in the market values of the ultymate parent company’s shares and those of selected comparator
group stocks are used to calculate the expected volatility assumption.

The restricted stock units that vested during the year had a total farr value of £16 1 mdlion (20t1 - £16 3
million)

Total expense

The expense relating to the payment of share-based compensation of the group’s directors and 1ts employees
15 £17 7 million (2011 - £20 0 million)
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Equity share capital

The balance classified as share capital represents the nomnal value on issue of the company's equity share
capital, compnsing £1 ordinary shares

Share premium

Share premium represents the amount of consideration received for the company's equity share capital 1n
excess of the nominal value of shares 1ssued

Other capital reserves comprising merger reserve and capital contributions

The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired through group recrgamsauons have given rise to the
requirement to make adjustments on consolidation 1n the merger reserve  The movement (n this reserve in
both 2012 and 2011 arose on the deferred and imtial consideration, respectively, following the group’s
acquisition of the non-controlling interest 1n a subsidiary undertaking

Unrealised gains and losses

This reserve recerds the portion of gain or loss on hedging instruments that are determined to be effective
hedges

Post balance sheet eveats
Merger agreement with Liberty Global, Inc.

On 5 February 2013, the Virgin Media group entered 1 to a Merger Agreement with Liberty Global, Inc, or
Liberty Global, and certain of its direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, or the Merger Subsidiaries
Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Virgin Media group have agreed, through a seres of
mitermediate steps and transactions, to be acquired by Liberty Global and merge nto one of the Merger
Subsidiaries  [f consummated, the merger will result in both Liberty Global and Virgin Media becoming
directly owned by a new UK public litnited company, or the Uliumate Parent, listed on NASDAQ, the
common stock of which will in tumn be held by Liberty Global and Virgin Media Shareholders The Virgin
Media group will continue to operate under the Virgin Medsa brand in the UK

On 15 Apnil 2013, the merger was granted unconditional European Umon, or EU, regulatory approval to
proceed The consummation of the merger 1s stull subject to the affirmative approval of Virgin Media Inc 's
shareholders and those of Liberty Global, and other customary closing condinons The shareholder meetings
for the Virgin Media group and Liberty Global to consider and vote to approve the Merger Agreement and
related transactions occurred on 4 June 2013 and 3 June 2013, respectively, and shareholder approval has
been granted

Under the Merger Agreement, the Virgin Media group has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to carry
on its business consistent with past practice and preserve mtact the business organisation and commercial
goodwill from the date of the Merger Agreement unul either the merger 1s consummated or the Merger
Agreement 1s terminated In addition, during this period the Virgin Media group bas undertaken covenants
that place certain restrictions on the Virgin Media group, and its subsidsanes’, abihity to, among other things,
dispose of maienial properties or assets, make unbudgeted capital expenditures, acquire substantial assets,
make substantial investments, increase the salary of certain of its employees or directors, pay certamn
bonuses or ncentive compensation, grant new equity or non-equity based compensation awards, hire new
employees, redeem common stock or other equity Interests, declare or pay dividends or make other
distributions i1n respect of its capital stock, other than a quarterly dividend of up to $0 04 per share, incur or
otherwise become ltable for matenal indebtedness, enter into certain transactions with related parties or
enter 1nto new matenal contracts, In each case, other than in the ordinary course of business, pursuant to
certain exceptions and baskets set forth in the Merger Agreement or unless Liberty Global consents m
writing to the taking of any such action 1fthe Vugin Media group fails to comply with these restnctions 1n
all matenal respects, unless waived by Liberty Global, the Merger Agreement could be terminated or the
merger not consummated
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On 15 Apnl 2013, the merger was granted unconditional European Union, or EU, regulatory approval to
proceed In addition, the shareholders for the Virgin Media group and Liberty Global approved the Merger
Agreement and related transactions on 4 June 2013 and 3 June 2013, respectively The consummation of the
merger 15 sull subject to other customary closing conditions For example, the Merger Agreement will
terminate sf, pnior to the consummation of the merger, the Virgin Media group enters into an acquisition
agreement with respect to a superior proposal and pay an applicable termination fee of up to $370 million,
or 1f the merger 1s not consummated on or prior to $ October 2013, which 15 the eight month anmversary of
the date of signature of the Merger Agreement, or 5 January 2014 if extended for certain reasons to the
eleven month anniversary The Merger Agreement also includes certain other events of termination and
certain other termination fee and expense provisions As set out 1n the Merger Agreement, the effective date
of the Merger 1s three days following shareholder approval (or 7 June 2013), unless otherwise agreed by the
parties Merger consideration 15 expected to be wansfeered on 7 June 2013, following which control will be
constdered to have passed

At the effective ime of the merger, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, each share of Virgin Media Inc 's
common stock issued and outstanding immediately priar to the effective time (excluding shares held by
self or its subsidianies n treasury and dissenting shares in accordance with Delaware law) will be
converted into the right to receive (1) 0 2582 Sertes A shares of the Ultimate Parent, (n) 0 1928 Series C
shares of the Ultimate Parent and (nr) $17 50 per share in cash Based on Virgin Media Inc ’s fully-diluted
shares outstanding of 335 mulhon as of 31 December 2012, the Virgin Media group expects that s
shareholders will own approximately 36% of the shares outstanding of the Ulimate Parent and have
approximately 26% of the voting rights

The Virgin Media group expects that Liberty Global will finance a portion of the merger consideration from
its own cash reserves and by raising bank debt and accessing the capital markets, which, if the merger 15
consummated, will, together with debt raised 1o replace certain of the Virgin Media group’s existing
facilities, be assumed by the Virgin Media group and result 1n an increase to its overall level of debt

Financing implications of the Merger on the group's existing debt

Consummation of the merger would represent a change of control event under the terms of the relevant
indentures of all of the semor secured notes and senior notes 1ssued by Virgin Media Finance PLC, or VMF
and the group’s wholly owned subsidiary Virgin Media Secured Finance PLC, or VMSF, and obhgate the
Virgin Media group to offer the noteholders the nght to put their notes back to 1t at 101% of the principal
amount plus accrued interest At the request of Liberty Global, on 6 February 2013, VMSF and VMF
commenced consent solicitations 1n respect of some of these notes for the notcholders to preemptively
waive this obligation and to seek consents 1o effect certain other proposed amendments in relation to the
merger Holders of the Virgin Media group’s dollar-denominated 6 50% semor secured notes due 2018,
sterling-denominated 7 00% senror secured notes due 2018, dollar-denominated 8 375% semior notes due
2019 and sterling-denominated 8 875% senior notes due 2019 granted consent to preemptively waive this
cbligation Holders of the Virgin Media group’s dollar-denominated 5 25% senior secured notes due 2021
and sterhing-denominated 5 50% sentwor secured notes due 2021, coilectively the 2021 Notes, did not grant
consent to preemptively waive this obligation and therefore the Virgin Media group will be required to
make an offer to repurchase these notes within 30 days of the consummation of the merger

The Virgin Media group have not solicited consents in relation to 1ts dollar-denominated 5 25% senior notes
due 2022, its dollar-denominated 4 875% semor notes due 2022 and its sterling-denomunated 5 125% senior
notes due 2022, collectively the 2022 Notes, and will be required to make an offer to repurchase these notes
within 30 days of the consummanon of the merger

The indentures governing the notes issued by VMF and VMSF permut the 1ssuer to launch change of control
offers in anticipation of a change of control event Therefore, on 3 May 2013, the Vurgin Media group
launched to holders a notice of change of control and offer 1o purchase its 2021 and 2022 Notes, which will
remain open until 11 59 pm New York City time on 7 June 2013, unless the offer 1s extended or
terminated
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Capital commitments

2012 201
£ million £ mullion
Amounts contracted for but not provided i the accounts 148 5 162 5

Contingent liabilities

The group’s revenue generating activities are subject to Value Added Tax (VAT) The group's VAT
treatment of certain other revenue generaung activities remains subject to challenge by the UK tax
authorities As a result, the group has estimated contingent losses totalling £31 9 rmllion as of 31 December
2012 (2011 - £27 5 mulhion) that are not accrued for, as the group did not deem them probable of resulting in

a hability The group currently expects an tnitial hearing on these maners to take place during the second
half of 2013 or early 2014

Pension and other post-retirement benefits

Defined coniribution plans

The group contnibutes to the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans of ehgible employees
Contributions are charged to the Group Income Statement as they become payable, in accordance with the
rules of the plans

Contnbutions to the defined contribution plans during the period were £13 7 million (2011 - £13 6 million)
The amount of outstanding contributions at 31 December 2012 included within creditors amounts falling
due within one year was £2 3 mullion (2011 - £2 3 million)

Defined benefit plans

The group recogmises any actuarial gans and losses mn each period mn the Group Statement of
Comprehensive Income

The group operates two plans which are defined benefit plans that pay out pensions at retirement based on
services and final pay

= ntl 1999 Pension Plan

A subsidiary, Virgin Media Limited, operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits (“ntl 1999
Pension Plan™) The plan has never been opened to new entrants except when the plan began and
subsequently on 31 May 2007, on both occasions new members were transferred from other existing plans
The assets of the plan are held separately from those of the company, being invested m umts of exempt unt
trusts The plan 1s funded by the payment of conmbutions to separately admimstered trust funds The
pension costs are determined with the advice of independent quahfied actuares on the basis of tnennal
valuattons using the projected unit credit method with a control period

* ntl Pension Plan

A subsidiary, Virgin Media Limsnted, operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits (“ntl
Pension Plan™) The pension plan was closed to new entrants as of 6 April 1998 The assets of the plan are
held separately from those of the company, 1n an independently admimistered trust The plan is funded by
the payment of contributions to this separately administered trust The pension costs are determined with
the advice of independent qualified actuaries on the basis of mennial valuations using the projected unit
credit method

The plans’ assets are measured at fair value The plans’ habihties are measured using the projected umt
method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond  As closed plans, under
the projected unit method the current service cost will increase as the members of the plan approach
retirement
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31 Pension and other past-retirement benefits (continued)

Changes in the present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation are as follows

2012 2011
£ milhon £ million
Defined benefit obligation at start of year 424 6 3901
Current service cost 18 17
Past service credn - 30
Interest cost 201 212
Expenience (gans)/losses (24 8) 41
Impact of changes in financial assumptions 242 233
Employee contributions 03 03
Benefits paid {151) {13 1)
Defined benefit obligation at end of year 4311 424 6
Changes n the fair value of plan assets are as follows

£ million £ mithon

Fair value of the plan assets at start of year 3810 3511
Expected return on assets 188 219
Actual less expected return on assets (18 1) 32
Employer contributions 177 176
Employee contributions 03 03
Benefits paid {(151) (13 1)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 3846 3810

The amounts recognised in the Group Balance Sheet, for the current and previous four penods are as

follows
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
£ milhon £ million £ muflion £ million £ nilhon
Present value of funded defined benefit obhigations 431 1) (424 6) (390 1) (3177 (307 8)
Farr value of plan assets 3846 gt o 3511 306 2 2739
Deficit m plan {46 5) (43 6) (390) (715) (33 9)
Expenence ga:nsf{losses) on plan tablittes 248 41) 58 57" 123
Expenence (lossesWgains on plan assets (181 32 214 182 {67 T)
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31 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

The amounts recogmised in the Group Income Statement for the year are as follows

Charged to operating profit

Current service cost

Past service credit

Total recognised 1n armving at operating profit (note 5)

Charged/(credued) to net finance expense
Expected return on pension plan assets
Interest on penston plan Labilities

Total net finance cost/(income)

Taken to the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Experience losses/(gains) on plan assets

Expenence (gains)/losses on plan liabilities

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the plan liabilities
Actuanal losses recogmsed n the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

The group expects to contribute £17 0 million to the Pension Plans m 2013

2012 201t
£ mullion £ mallion
18 17
- (30
18 {13)
(18 8) (219)
200 212
12 (07)
181 {12)
(24 8) 41
242 233
175 242

The cumulative amount of actuarial gans and losses, net of tax, recognised since 1 January 2004 n the
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 15 £10¢5 3 million (2011 - £87 8 million) The directors are
unable to determine how much of the pension scheme deficit recognised on transition to IFRS and taken
directly to equity of £76 4 million 1n the group 1s atmbutable to actuarial gans and losses since inception of
those pension schemes Consequently, the directors are unable 10 determine the amount of actuarial gains
and losses that would have been recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income before 1

January 2004
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31 Pension and other post-retirement beaefits (continued)

Principal actuarial assumptions are as follows

2012 2011

Discount rate ) 4 40% 4 80%
Annuahsed expected return on plan assets for the year 5 45% 4 91%
Rate of salary increases 330% 350%
Rate of pension increases 343% 352%
Rate of inflation 1 80% 2 00%
Life expectancy for

Male aged 45 886 884
Male aged 65 373 864
Female aged 45 910 910
Female aged 65 894 891

Where investments are held in bonds and cash, the expected long term rate of retum 1s taken to be the yields
generally prevailing on such assets at the balance sheet date A higher rate of returm 15 expected on equity
investments, which 15 based more on realistic future expectations than on the returns that have been
available historically The overall expected Jong term rate of return on assets 1s then the average of these
rates taking into account the underlying asset portfolio of the pension plans

Our pension plan weighted-average asset allocations by asset category and by far value hierarchy level at
31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows

2052
Long term
rate of
return Level 1 Level 2 Level } Total
£ mallien £ million £ milhon £ mllhion
Equities 690% 1684 - - 168 4
Property 6 40% 26 - 26 52
Govemnment bonds 290% 195 - - 195
Caorporate bonds 4 40% 812 - - 812
Hedge funds 640% - 91 - 91
Insurance policy (buy-in) 4 40% - - 906 %6
Cash and other 290% 106 - - 106
Total market value of assets 2823 91 932 3846
Present value of plan habilities (431 1)
Nei pension habiliry 46 5
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31 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

201t
Long term
rate of
return Level { Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ aulhion £ milhon £ million £ million
Equities 6 80% 1254 - - 1254
Property 630% 47 19 - 66
Government bonds 3 00% 142 7 - - 1427
Corporate bonds 4 80% 750 - - 750
Hedge funds 6 50% - 270 - 270
Cash and other 3 00% 43 - - 43
Total market value of assets 3521 289 - 3810
Present value of plan liabilittes (424 6)
Net pension hability {43 6)

During the fourth quarter of 2012, the trustees of one of the group’s defined benefit plans purchased an
nsurance contract that will pay an income stream to the plan which 1s expected to maich all Future cash
outflows 1n respect of certain habilities The fair value of this insurance contract 15 presented as an asset of
the plan and 1s measured based on the future cash flows to be received under the contract discounted using
the same discount rate used to measure the associated habilities

The benefits expected to be paid out of the penston plans in total are set out below for each of the next five
years and the following five years in aggregate The benefits expecied 10 be paid are based on the same
assumptions used to measure the benefit obligation at 31 December 2012 and include estimated future

employee services

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Years 2018 - 2022

Weighted average duration of the defined benefit oblhigation
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32 Related party transactions
During the year the group entered into transactions, in the ordmary course of business, with other related

parties  Transactions entered into duning the year, and trading balances outstanding at 31 December with
other related parties, are as follows

Note 33
Services Services Interest Interest Amounts Amounts
rendered to renderedby  charged to charged by owed by owed to
related related related related related related
party party party party party party
Related parry £ millon £ mitlion £ milhon £ million £ milhon £ milion
Parent undertakings
2012 56 - 547 - 8840 -
201t 55 - 94 - 4805 -
Other enuities with significant
influence over the group
2012 - - 07 {4 8) 499 (353 0)
2011 - N 2s (80) 513 (351 0)
Fellow subsidiary
undenakings
2012 523 - 07 (109 - (285 2)
2011 499 - 13 (115 - (252 6)
Jomt ventures
2012 - - . . - -
201 03 (47 s4 - - -

Farent undertakings
The group’s ulumate parent company Virgin Media Inc has been indebted to the group, which receives
interest income according to the terms of each loan agreement  The group recharges the ultimate parent
company for certam costs directly attributed to the operanons of that company including allocable payroll
and related expenses

Entities wih significant influence over the group

Virgin Media Holdings Inc , a company with sigmificant influence over the group has been indebted to the
group, which receives interest income according to the terms of each loan agreement  The group has been
ndebted to VM Sundial Limited, an entity with sigmficant influence cver the group, Incurring interest
charges according to the terms of each loan arrangement

Fellow subsidiary undertakings

The net recovery of debts by Virgin Media Limited relating to the customers of fellow subsidiary
undertakings, namely ntl Kirklees and ntl Glasgow, through centralised debt collection and treasury
operations, generates trading balances which are offset by operating expenses and capital purchases that are
also recharged by Virgin Media Limited  Virgin Medra Limited 1s an indirect subsidiary of the company
whilst ntl Kirklees and ntl Glasgow are both outside the group headed by the company

Joint venture

UKTV was a related party of the group, as the group owned 50% of the voting nghts until 30 Sepiember
2011, when the sale of UKTV was completed The group billed overheads and costs incurred to UKTV in
the year to 31 December 2011 of £0 3 mulliton The group had made a loan to UKTV and purchased
redeemable preference shares in UKTV interest charged on this loan and preference dividends received
was £5 4 million n the year to 31 December 2011 Dividends on ordinary shares received from UKTV for
the year ended 31 December 2011 totalled £17 §

In the normal course of 1ts business the group purchases programmsng from UKTV on normal commercial

terms  Purchases for the year ended 31 December 2011 by the group totalled £24 7 million At 31
December 2011 the group did not owe UKTV an amount i relation to these purchases
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32 Related party transactions (continued)

Pension schemes
The assets of ail the Virgin Media sponsored pension schemes are held separately from those of the group

For details see note 31  The group pays the actuarial and audit fees on behalf of each of the defined benefit
schemes

Terms and condions of transactions with related parties

The terms of the loans payable to parent undertakings are as outlined n note 20 Cenain expenses are
specifically atmbutable to each company n the group Where costs are incurred by Virgin Media Limited
on behalf of other group companies, expenses are allocated to the other group companies on a basis that, in
the opinion of the directors, 1s reasonable

Virgin Group Compames

Virgin Entertainment Investment Holdings Limited (VEIH) became a holder of Virgin Medwa Inc’s
common stock on 4 July 2006 as a result of Virgin Media Inc ‘s acquisition of Virgin Mobile on that date
As of 31 December 2012 VEIH, which s indirectly owned by trusts whose principal beneficianes are Sir
Richard Branson and members of his famuly, owned 2 5% (2011 — 2 3%) of Vrgin Media Inc 's common
stock The group has entered into vanous transactions described below, 1n which affiliates of VEIH had a
material interest, whether direct or indirect

(a) Trademark Licence Agreement with Virgin Enterprises Limited

On 3 Apnl 2006, Virgin Media Inc entered mto a trademark License agreement with Virgin Enterprises
Limited (VEL) under which 1t is entitled 1o use certain Virgin trademarks within the United Kingdom and
Ireland The licence entitles the group to use the "Virgin' name for the TV, broadband mternet, telephone
and mobile phone services provided to residential customers, as well as the acquisition and branding of
sports, movies and other premium television content and the sale of communications equipmeant, such as set
top boxes and cable modems The agreement provides for a royalty of 0 25% per annum of Virgin Media
Inc's revenue from the relevant businesses, subject to a mimmum annual royalty of £8 5 milhion The
agreement has a term of 30 years It can be termunated by Virgin Media after 10 years on one year's notice,
and 11 15 subject to earher terrmination by the group in certam other circumstances, ncluding {subject to
specified payments) upon a change of contro! Durning the year ended 31 December 2012, the group
mcurred royalties owed to VEL of £8 5 million (2011 - £8 5 milhion) under this Licence agreement, of which
£4 25 muillion {2011 - £4 25 million) was payable at the year end

On 16 December 2009 the group entered into a trademark licence agreement wath VEL, with effect from i1
February 2010, 1o use the "Virgin' name for its nt] Telewest Business division, which was rebranded 'Virgin
Media Business’ The agreement provides for an annual royalty of 0 25% per annum of revenue from the
business division, subject to a miumum annual royalty of £1 5 mullion Durnng the year ended 31
December 2012, the group incurred royalues of £1 7 mithon (2011 - £1 6 million) under this hcence
agreement, of which £885,000 (2011 - £771,000) was payable at the year end

(b} Service agreement with Virgin Group Investmenis Limited

The group also has an agreement with Virgin Group Investments Limuted, Sir Richard Branson's employer,
and Vugin Management Limited, relating to personal public appearances by Sir Richard to promote the
group and its services The group 1s obliged to pay an annual fee of £100,000 under this agreement Dunng
the year the group incurred £100,000 (2011 - £100,0600) under this agreement

{c) Other ardinary course agreements wuh VEIH affihates

The group entered into agreements with VEIH affiliates in the ordinary course of business These included
telecommuntcations service agreements with Virgan Atlantic Arrways and Virgin Holidays These contracts
were entered nto prior to VEIH acquinng asts interest in Virgin Media Inc The group had aggregate
revenues in 2012 of approximately £875,000 (2011 - £695,000) under these contracts

{d) Sales promotions with Virgin Games

Durning 2006 the group entered into promotional arrangements whereby the products and services of Virgin
Games, a division of Virgincom Limited, are promoted on the group's internet portal at
www virginmedia com The group received payment of approximately £117,000 1 2012 (2011 - £147,000)
from Virgin Games in connection with these arrangements
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(e) Advertising with Virgin Atlantic Airways
Durning the year the group advertised its products on the in-flight entertainment platform of Virgin Atlantic
Airways, incurting expenses of approximately £162,000 (2011 - £162,000)

6 Virgin Insight Services

in 2012 the group provided Virgin Insight Limited, an organisation that was created tn 2008 to faciliate
closer mutually beneficial collaboration between participating Virgin Group companies and non-Virgin
companies {which do not compete directly with any of the Virgin Group companies) through the
dentification of cross-group marketing opportuninies based on the number of customers of the participating
brands, with cash in-kind services (data-processing and support by the group's business ntelligence
analysts), incuming expenses (both cash and in-kind services) of £250,000 (201! - £250,000) of which
£150,000 (2011 - £150,000} was incurred through in-kind services

(g) Business Travel and Virgin Atlantic Awrways \
From time to ime in the ordinary course of business the group'’s employees make travel arrangements with
Virgin Atlantic Airways when flying for business reasons and the travel department encourages this due to
the discounts made avarlable In 2012, the group ncurved travel expenses of approximately £214,000 (2011 !
- £226,000) in connection with these arrangernents

th) Virgin Vouchers

From ume to iime, and i the ordinary course of business, the group offer sales and marketing promotions to

customers and offer internal staff awards and promotions for which vauchers in respect of VEIH affiliates ,
are provided In 2012, the group incurred expenses of £90,000 (2011 - £171,000) to Acome PLC, a voucher

distributtons company, m respect of vouchers for VEIH affiliates

Compensation of key management personnel (including directors)

2012 2011
£ million £ milhon
Short-term employee benefits 45 46 |
Post-employment benefits 06 06
Termination benefits - -
Non-equity incentive plan 29 26
Share based payments 56 73
136 151

The compensation of the chanrman and non-executive directors of Virgin Media Inc, the ultimate parent
company of Virgin Media Finance PL.C, are disclosed in the Proxy Statement of that company and represent
costs that are not recharged to the group
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33 Principal subsidiary undertakings

Details of the principal investments in which the group holds at feast 20% of the norninal value of any class
of share caputal, all of which are unlisted, are as follows All are registered i England and Wales unless
otherwise noted
Proporiion of
vohing righis and  Principal

Subsidary Holding shares held acuvies
Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limited Ordinary shares 100% Holding
Virgin Media Investments Limuted Ordinary shares 100% # Holding
Virgin Media Secured Finance PLC Ordinary shares 100% # Finance
Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Finance
VMIH Sub Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Holding
Virgin Media Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
Virgin Media Payments Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Collections
BCMYV Limuted Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
ntl Business (Ireland) Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
Diamond Cable Communications Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Holding
ntl Midlands Limuted Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
ntl Funding Limited Otdinary shares 100% # Telecoms
NTL (Tnangle) LLC Common stock  100% # (1) Holding
ntl Cambridge Limited Ordtnary shares 100% # Telecoms
ntl Insh Holdings Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
DTELS Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
ntl Rectangle Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Holding
X-Tant Linited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
ntl (South Hertfordshire) Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
atl CableComms Limsted Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
ntl CableComms Bolton Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
nt! CableComms Bromley Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Tetecoms
ntl CableComms Bury and Rochdale Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
ntl CableComms Cheshire Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
ntl CableComms Derby Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Tetecoms
ntl CableComms Greater Manchester Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
ntl CableComms Macclesfield Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
nt] CableComms Oldham and Tameside Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
nti CableComms Solent Ordinary shares  100% # (1} Telecoms
ntl CableComms Staffordshire Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
ntl CableComms Stockport Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
ntl CableComms Surrey Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
ntl CableComms Sussex Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
ntl CableComms Wessex Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
ntl CableComms Wirral Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
atl Wirral Tetephone and Cable TV Company Ordinary shares  100% # (1) Telecoms
ntl Communications Services Linmited Ordinary shares 100% & Telecoms
ntl (CWC) Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
ntl Business Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
Virgin Net Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
Telewest UK Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
Blueyonder Workwise Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
Virgin Media Business Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
Telewest Communications (South West) Limited Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
Telewest Communmications (Colswolds) Limuted Ordinary shares 100% # Telecoms
# held by subsidiary undertaking (1) Unhmited company (n) Registered in USA

(i) Registered in Luxembourg (wv) registered 1n Scottand
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Subsidiary

Cable London Limited

Cable Camden Limited

Cable Enfield Limuted

Cable Hackney & Ishngton Limited

Cable Haringey Limited

Birmingham Cable Limited

Birmungham Cable Finance Limited

Eurobell (Holdings) Lymited

Eurobell (Sussex) Limited

Eurobell (South West) Limited

Eurobeil (West Kent) Limited

Eurobell internet Services Limited

Telewest Communications Networks Limited
Telewest Communicauens (London South) Limited
Telewest Communications {South East) Limited
Telewest Communicatons (South Thames Estuary) Limited
Telewest Communications {Midlands & North West) Limited
M&NW Network Limited

M&NW Network [[ Limited

Telewest Commumcations {Cumbernauld) Limited
Telewest Communications (Dumbarton) Limited
Telewest Commumcatsons (Dundee & Perth) Limited
Telewest Commumcatsons (Falkirk) Limted
Telewest Communmications (Glenrothes) Limited
Telewest Communications {Motherwell) Limited
Telewest Communications {Scotland) Limited
Telewest Communications {North East) Limnted
Yorkshire Cable Communications Linuted
Bamsley Cable Communications Limited
Doncaster Cable Communications Limited

Halifax Cable Communications Lumited

Sheffield Cable Communications Limted
Wakefield Cable Communications Limited
Middlesex Cable Limited

Windsor Television Limited

Vugin Media Wholesale Limuted

VMWH Limited

Bluehottle Call Limated

Virgin Mobile Group (UK) Limited

Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limuted

Future Entertainment Sarl

interactive Digutal Sales Limited

Flextech B Limited

Flextech L Limited

Flextech C

Flextech Broadband Limited

# held by subsidiary undertaking
(1) Registered in Luxembourg

79

Holding

Ordnary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ocdinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Qrdinary shares
Ordinary shares
Qrdinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
QOrdinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordmnary shares

(1) Unlimited company
{(v) registered in Scotland

Proportion of

voung rights and  Principal

shares held

100% &#
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
1009 #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
0% # (1v)
100% # (1v)
100% # (1v)
100% # (1v)
100% # (1)
100% # (1v)
100% # (wv)
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% # (m)
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #
100% #

acliviles

Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecams
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Holding
Telecoms
Telecoms
Holding
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Holding
Telecoms
Telecoms
Telecoms
Television
Content
Content
Content
Content
Content

(1) Registered in USA
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33 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

The company has taken advantage of Section 409 of the Compames Act 2006 and disclosed only those
investments whose results or financtal positton materially affected the figures shown n the company’s
annual financial statements

The company will 1ssue a guarantee under Section 479(C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 31
December 2012 wn respect of the subsidianies hsted below The company guarantecs all outstanding
liabitities to which the subsidiary company 1s subject to at 31 December 2012, unti} they are satisfied i fuli
and the guarantee s enforceable against the company by any person to whom the subsidiary company s
liable 1n respect of those Labilines These active subsidianies have taken advantage of the exemption from

audit of individual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2012 by virtue of Section 479(A) of the
Companies Act 2006

The guarantee under Section 479(C) of the Compames Act 2006 1s in respect of the following subsidiaries,
all of which are 100% owned, either directly or indirectly

Active Subsidiartes Company number
VMIH Sub Limited 5316140
ntl Victoria Limited 5685196
Virgin Media Secured Finance PLC 7108352
Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited ) 7176280
ntl Funding Limited 5333722
Cambridge Holding Company Limited 2670603
ntl Insh Holdings Limuted 5313953
Virgin Media Secretanes Limited 2857052
Diamond Cable Communications Limited 296524]
ntl Business (Ireland) Limited 3284482
X-TANT Limuted 3580901
ntl Rectangle Limited 4329656
BCMYV Limited 3074517
ntt (South Hertfordshire) Limeted 2401044
ntl (B) Limited 2735732
ntl CabteComms Wessex 2410378
ntl CableComms Bromley 2422195
ntl CableComms Derby 2387713
ntl CableComms Bolton 1883383
ntl CableComms Greater Manchester 2407924
ntl CableComms Bury and Rochdale 2446183
ntl CableComms Macclesfield 2459067
ntl Wirral Telephone and Cable TV Company 2511873
ntl CableComms Limited 2664006
ntl CableComms Surrey 2531586
ntl CableComms East Lancashire 2114543
ntl Bolton Cablevision Holding Company 2422198
ntl Derby Cablevision Holding Company 2422310
ntl Manchester Cablevision Holding Company 2455631
ntl CableComms Staffordshire 2379800
ntl CableComms Cheshire 2379804
ntl CableComms Holdings No 1| Limited 3709869
United Artists Investments Linuted 2761569
Flextech Digital Broadcasting Limited 3298737
Flextech L Limited 2802598
Flextech C 2721189
Flextech T Limited 1733724
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33 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Active Subsidiartes

Flextech Communtcations Limited

Flextech Family Channel Limited

Flextech IVS Limited

Flextech (1992) Limited

Flextech Limited

General Cable Holdings Limited

Telewest Communications Holdco Limited
Telewest Communrcations Holdings Limited
Telewest Limited

Blue Yonder Workwise Limited

Telewest Commusications (Cotswolds) Limiuted
Cable Camden Lumited

Cable Enfield Limited

Cable Hackney & Ishington Limited

Cable Haringey Limited

Eurobell {Holdings) Limited

Eurcobell (Sussex ) Limited

Eurobell (South West) Limned

Eurobell (West Kent) Limited

Eurobell Internet Services Limited

Telewest Communications (London South) Limned
Telewest Communications (South East) Limited
Telewest Communications (South Thames Estuary) Limited
Telewest Communications (Midlands) Limned
Telewest Communications (Felford) Limited
Telewest Communications (Central Lancashire) Limited
Telewest Communications (St Hefens & Knowsley) Limited
Telewest Communications (Wigan) Limited
Telewest Communications (Fylde & Wyre) Limited
Telewest Communications (Southport) Limited
M&NW Network Limited

M&NW Network 11 Lumited

Telewest Communications {Cumbemauld} Limited
Telewest Communications (Dumbarton) Limited
Telewest Communications (Dundee & Perth) Limited
Telewest Communications (Falkirk) Limited
Telewest Communications (Glenrothes) Limited
Telewest Communications {Motherwell) Limited
Telewest Communications (Scotland) Limited
Yorkshire Cable Communications Limited
Bamnsley Cable Communications Limited
Doncaster Cable Communications Limited

Halifax Cable Commumications Limited

Wakefield Cable Commumications Limited
Middlesex Cable Limited

The Cable Corporation Limited

VMWH Limuted

Theseus No | Linuted

Theseus No 2 Limuted

Virgin Meda Finco Limited
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Company number

2588502
2B56303
2678882
1190025
2683411
2798236
3761983
2982404
3291383
4055742
1743081
1795642
2466511
1795641
1808589
2904215
2272340
1796131
2886001
3172207
1697437
2270764
2270763
1882074
2389377
1737862
2466599
2451112
2935056
3085912
6763496
6765761
SCi121614
5C121700
SC96816
SC122481
SC119523
SCI21617
SC30891
2490136
2466594
2407940
2459173
2400909
2460325
2075227
7531816
2594027
2994061
8045612
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for the year ended 31 December 2012

33 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Actrve Subsidiaries

ntl Midlands Leasing Limited

BCMYV Leasing Limited

ntl CableComms Wessex Leasing Limited
ml CableComms Sussex Leasing Limited
ntl CableComms Bromley Leasing Limuted
ntl CableComuns Derby Leasing Lumuted
ntl CableComms Bolion Leasing Limned

ntl CableComms Greater Manchester Leasing Limited
ntl Wurral Telephone and Cable TV Company Leasing Limited

ntl CableComms Surrey Leasing Limited
ntl CableComms Wural Leasing Limited

Company number

7981328
7980898
7981349
7981341
7981358
7981361
7981350
7981364
7982011
7981376
7981333

Telewest Communications {Midlands and North West) Leasing Limited 7982014

W Television Leasing Limued
Bimmingham Cable Corporation Limited
ntl (South London) Limsted

7984439
2170379
657093

The company will i1ssue a guarantee under Section 394(C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 31
December 2012 1n respect of the wholly owned dormant subsidiaries listed betow The company guarantees
all outstanding liabilities to which the subsidiary company 1s subject to at 31 December 2012, until they are
satisfied in full and the guarantee 1s enforceable against the company by any person to whom the subsidiary
company 1s hable in respect of those habilities These dormant subsidhanies have taken advantage of the
exemption from preparing indwvidual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2012 by virtue of Secuon

394(A) of the Companies Act 2006

The guarantee under Section 394(C) of the Companies Act 2006 15 in respect of the following dormant
subsidianies, all of which are 100% owned, either directly or indwrectly

Dormam Subsidiaries

Virgin Media Sales Limuted

Virgin Media Communicahions Networks Limited

ntl South Centrat Limited

Anglia Cable Communications Limited
East Coast Cable Limited

Virgin Media Directors Limited
Cambtidge Cable Services Lumited
Credit-Track Debt Recovery Limited

CCL Corporate Communication Services Limited

ntl Darlington Limzted

Jewel Holdings

ntl Internet Services Limited

nt! (Hampshire) Limited

ntl (Greenwich and Lewisham) Lunited
nt] (L.ambeth and Southwark) Limited
ntl (South Londen) Limted

ntl (West London) Limited

ntl (City and Westminster) Limited
ntl (CWC) Corporation Limited

ntl (Thamesmead} L.imited

ntl (Wandsworth) Limited

ntl (Ealing) Lumited

ntl (Harrow) Limited
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Company number

6047212
5993970
2387692
2433857
2352468
2499321
3262220
2425789
2955679
2533674
3085518
4038930
2351070
2254009
2277986
657093

1735664
2809080
2719477
2461140
1866178
1721894
2459179




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

33 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Dormant Subsidiories

ntl (Leeds) Limited

ntl (Harrogate) Limited

ntl {York) Limited

ntl {Wearside) Limuted

ntl {County Durham) Limited

ntl {Broadland) Limited

ntl (Peterborough) Limited

ntl (CRUK)

ntl (Kent) Limited

ntl Holdings (Leeds) Limited

ntl (YorCan) Limited

nt! Holdings (Broadland) Limited

ntl Holdings (Fenland) Limited

ntl Holdings (Norwich) Limited

ntl Holdings (Peterbarough) Liumuted
ntl Holdings (East London) Limited
ntl Acquisititon Company Limited

ntl Partcheer Company Limited

ntl UK Telephone and Cable TV Holding Company Lumted
ntl Solent Telephone and Cable TV Company Limited
ntl Streetwarm Services Limited

ntl Streetvital Services Limited

ntl Microclock Services Limuted

ntl (CWC) UK

ntl Chartwell Holdings Limited

ntl Winston Holdings Limited

ntl Strikeapart Treding Limited

ntl CableComms Holdings No 2 Limited
ntl Streetunique Projects Limited

nt) Strikeagent Trading Limited

ntl CableComms Manchester Limited
ntl Streetvision Services Limuited

ntl Streeturut Projects Limited

ntl Sideoffer Limited

nt! Streetusual Services Limited

nt] Streetwide Services Limuted

nt] Smkeamount Trading Limited

nt] (CWC Holdings)

ntl Victona {1 Limited

Flextech Interactive Limuted
Flextech B Limited

Continental Shelf 16 Limited
Flextech (Kindernet Investment) Limited
Flextech Broadcasting Liumited
Flextech Distribution Lamited
Flextech Childrens Channel Limited
Flextech Media Holdings Limited
Flextech Video Games Limited
Virgin Mobile Group (UK) Limited
Cable Adnet Limited
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Company number

2400103
2404019
2406267
2475099
3128449
2443741
2332232
2329254
2456153
2766909
2371785
2427172
2427199
2412962
2888397
2032186
2270117
2861817
2511877
2511653
2851011
2851021
2861856
2463427
3290823
3250821
2851018
3709340
2851203
2851014
2511368
2851020
2851201
2927059
2851019
2851013
2851015
3922682
5685189
31184754
2342064
3005499
1260228
4125325
2678883
2678881
2678886
2670821
5050748
3283202




Virgin Media Finance PLC

Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

33 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Dormant Subsidiaries

General Cable Group Limuted

General Cable Investments Limited

General Cable Limited

General Cable Programming Limited
Southwestern Bell Intemanional Holdings Limited
Telewest Communications (Publications) Limited
Telewest Commumications Cable Limited
The Cabte Equipment Store Limuted
Telewest Workwise Limited

Filegale Limited

Avon Cable Investments Limited
Birmingham Cable Corporation Limited
Telewest Communications (North West) Linited
Telewest Communications (Scotland Holdings) Linuited
SANE Network Limited

The Yorkshire Cable Group Limiuted
Yorkshire Cable Telecor Limed
Yorkshire Cable Finance Limited

The Cable Corporation Equipment Limited
Bradford Cable Communications Limuted
Cable Communications Limited

Cable Intemnet Limited

Cable on Demand Limited

Capual City Cablevision Limited

Central Cable Holdings Limited

Central Cable Limited

Central Cable Sales Limited

Crystal Palace Radio Limited

Dundee Cable and Satellite Limited

EMS Investments Limited

Eurobell (IDA) Limited

Eurobell (No 2) Limited

Eurobell (No 3) Limited

Eurobell CPE Limited

Eurobell Limited

European Business Network Limited
Hieronymous Limited

Perth Cable Television Limited

Pinnacle Debt Recovery Limited

Rotherham Cable Communicatons Limited
Telewest Communications (Intermet) Lumited
Telewest Health Trustees Limited

Telewest Parhamentary Holdings Limited
Yorkshire Cable Limited

Yorkshire Cable Properties Limited
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Company number

2872852
2885920
2369824
2906200
2378768
3860829
2883742
2693805
4055744
2804553
2487110
2170379
2321124
SC150058
$C352011
2782818
2743897
2993376
2116958
2664803
1860121
3085918
3039816
SC80665
3008567
3008681
2985669
1459745
SC093114
3373057
3373001
3405634
3006948
2742145
2983427
2146363
SC80135
8C032627
2989853
2455726
3141035
31936764
2514316
2792601
2951884




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

34 Parent undertaking and controlling party
The company's immedate parent undertaking 1s Virgin Media Communications Limited

The company's ultumate parent undertaking and controlling party at 31 December 2012 was Virgin Media
Inc , a company incorporated n the state of Delaware, United States of America

The largest group of which the company 15 a member and for which group accounts have been drawn up s
that headed by Virgin Medsa Inc

Comes of all sets of group accounts, are available from Company Secretary, Virgin Media, Bartley Wood
Bustness Park, Hook, Hampshure, RG27 9UP
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Virgin Media Finance PLC

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation to the Company Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for prepaning the Directors’ Report and the financial statements 1n accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements tn accordance with Umited Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under company law
the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are sausfied that they give a true and faw
view of the state of affairs of the company and the profit or loss of the company for that period

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to
*  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
*  make Judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

e  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

= prepare the financial statemnents on the going concern basis unless 1t 1s nappropriate to presume that the
company will confinue i business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also
respansible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities

86




Independeat Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 31
December 2012, which compnse the Company Balance Sheet and the related notes | to 13 The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 15 apphcable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the company’s members, as a body, 1n accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those martters we are required 1o state 10 them 1n an auditor’s report and for no other purpose  To the fullest
extent permutted by law, we do not accepl or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opimons we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explamed more fully in the Siatement of Directors’ Responsibilines set out on page 86 the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and farr view Our responsibility 15 to audit and express an opinion on the parent company financial
statements 1n accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those
standards require us to comply with the Auduting Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit mvolves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financia) statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the parent
company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information 1n the report and financial statements to
identify matenal inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent
matenal misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the imphications for our report

Opinion on financial statlements
In our opinion the parent company financial statements

» give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2012,

* have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
and

» have been prepared 1n accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opimon the information given m the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the parent company financial statements
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Compames Act 2006 requires us to
report to you 1f, 1n our opinion

= adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retumns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us, or

» the parent company financial statements are not tn agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
* certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC fer the year ended
31 December 2012

Emik t (o 1P

' Michael Rudberg (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Emst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
* London
6 June 2013
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2012

Notes
Fuixed assets
Investments 3
Current assets
Debtors (due 1t more than one year) 4

Debstors (due 1n less than one year) 4
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors amounts falling due within one year 5

Net current assets

Total assets less current habilities

Creditors amounts falling due after more than
one year 6

Net assets

Capital and reserves

Called up share caputal 7
Share premium account 8
Capita) contribution 8
Profit and loss account 8
Equity shareholders’ funds 8

' G S S

R C Gale
Darector
6 June 2013

Company Registration Number 5061787
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£ miihon

1,866 4
250
10

1,892 4
(286 6)

2012
£ milhon

2,169 1

1,605 8

3,714 9

(1,804 6)

1,970 3

01
3,3232
50
(1,358 0)

1,970 3

2011
£ million £ milhon

2,169 1
1,761 1
513
19
1,814 3
(1328)

1,681 5

3,850 6

(1,696 8)

2,153 8

01

3,3232

50

(1,174 5)

2,153 8




Virgin Media Finance PLC

Notes to the Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

1

Accounting policies

The principal accounting polhicies are summarised below and have all been applied consistently throughout
the current year and the preceding year

Bas:s of preparation
The parent company financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC ("the company™) are presented as
required by the Companies Act 2006 and were approved for issue on 6 June 2013

The financial statements are prepared using the historical cost convention and i accordance with applicable
accounting standards in the United Kingdom

No profit and loss account 1s presented by the company as perrmitted by Section 408 of the Comparues Act
2006 The company has taken advantape of the exempuon in paragraph 2D of FRS 29 ‘Financial
Instruments Disclosures’ and has not disclosed information required by that standard, as the group's
consolidated financial statements, 1n which the company 1s included, provide equivalent disclosures for the
group under IFRS 7 ‘Fmnancual Instruments Disclosures’

The company's investments in subsidiaries

The company recognises its investments 1n subsidiaries at cost, less any provision for impawrment Ina
group reconstruction where Section 611 of the Compames Act 2006 applies, the cost of investment of the
transferor 1s adopted by the company Income s recoghised from these investments only 1n relation to
distnibuntons received from post-acquisition profits  Distributions received in excess of post-acquisition
profits are deducted from the costs of the mmvestment

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxanon 1s recognised, as appropniate, in respect of all uming differences that have ongmated but
not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result
1n an obligation to pay more, or a nght to pay less or to receive more, tax, with the following exceptions

{(a) provision 15 made for deferred tax on pains arising from the revaluation (and similar fair value
adjustments) of fixed assets, and gains on disposal of fixed assets that have been rolled over nto
replacement assets, only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, there 1s a binding agreement to dispose
of the assets concermed However, no provision 1s made where, on the basis of all available evidence at the
balance sheet date, it 1s probable that the taxable gain will be rolled over mto replacement assets and
charged to tax only when the replacement assets are sold, and

(b) deferred tax assets are recogmised only to the extent that the directors consider that 1t 15 probable that
there will be suimble taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can
be deducted

Deferred tax 15 measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply wn the pertods
i which tming differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date

Foreign currency transiation

Transacuons in foreign currencies are wtially recorded wn the functional currency by applying the exchange
rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and habihties denominated n foreign currencies
are retranslated at the functionat currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date  All differences
are taken to the income statement, except where hedge-accounting 1s applied Non-monetary tems that are
measured 1n terms of histoncal cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the
dates of the minal transactions Non-monetary items measured at fairr value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined

Employee benefits including long term incentives and share-based peyments

The company is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Inc  Accordingly, the company has
no share-based compensation plans  The company has no employees A wholly-owned indirect subsidrary,
Virgin Media Limited 15 the principal employer of the group’s employees Details of employee costs
including long term incentives and share based payments are disclosed tn the consolidated financial
statements herewith
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Virgin Media Finance PLC

Notes to the Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 3) December 2012

Accounting policies (continued)

Cash flow statement

The company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS | (revised) not to prepare a cash flow
statement as 1t 15 a subsidiary which 15 at least 90% controlled by the ultimate parent undertaking

Interest bearng loans and borrowings

All interest bearng loans and borrowings are initially recognised at net proceeds  After inal recognition

debt 1s mcreased by the finance cost 1n respect of the reporting penod and reduced by repayments made
the period

Finance costs of debt are allocated over the 1erm of the debt at a constant rate on the carrying amount

Loss attributable to members of the parent company

The loss dealt with in the accounts of the parent company was £183 5 muillion (2011 - loss of £16 5 million)

Investments

Investment in subsidiary undertakings

£ million

Cost and net book value:

At 1 January and 31 December 2012 3,3232
Provision for impairment

At | January 2012 1,154 1
Impairment charpe for the year -
At 31 December 2012 1,154 1
Net book value:

At 31 December 2012 2,169 1
At 3! December 2011 2,169 1

Details of the principal investments in which the group or the company hotds at least 20% of the nominal
value of any class of share capta), all of which are unlisted, can be seen n note 33 to the group financial
statements

Debtors
2012 2011
£ million £ milhon
Loan notes due from group undertakings 1,866 4 1,761 |
Amounts due from group undertakings - 1
Interest recervable on loan notes due from group undertakings 250 502
1,89] 4 1,8124

Loans advanced to group undertakings are repayable on demand but are not expected to be recovered m full
within one year The loans advanced to group undertakings wnclude U S dollar denominated loans of
$2,000 7 millron (2011 - $2,011 7 milbon) which had a camrying value of £1,235 8 mulhion (2011 - £1,294 |
mulion) at the balance sheet date and euro denominated loans of €nil (2011 - €174 2 milhon) which had a
carrying value of £n11 (2011 - £145 3 mullion) at the balance sheet date

Other amounts owed by group undertakings are nterest free and are repayable on demand
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Virgin Media Finance PL.C

Notes to the Compaay Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

S Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2012 2011

£ mdhon £ mallion
Interest on loan notes due to group undertakings 22 22
Interest payable on Senior Notes 248 499
Amounts owed to group undertakings 2007 218
Loan notes due to group undertakings 589 589
286 6 132 8

Amounts owed to and loan notes due 10 group compantes are technically payable on demand as they do not
mnclude an unconditional right to defer payment and hence are mcluded i creditors falling due within one
year However, the directors are of the opmnion that, in the ordimary course of business, repayment within

stch a time scale 1s unhkely to be required

All other amounts above are unsecured and due within one year

6 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

2012 20N
£ mullion £ mullion
Senior Notes 1,804 6 1,696 8
1,804 6 1,696 8
Borrowings are repayable as follows
2012 201t
£ million £ million
Amounts falling due
In more than one year but not more than two years - -
In more than two years but not more than five years - 981 7
In more than five years 1,804 6 7151
Borrowings amounts falling due after more than one year 1,804 6 1,696 &
Loans not wholly repayable within five years are as follows
2012 2011
£ million £ mithon
Senior Notes 1,804 6 7151
1,804 6 715 1
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

6 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Total borrowings comprise

2012 2011

£ million £ milion
9 50% U S dollar senior notes due 2016 - 8492
9 50% euro semor notes due 2016 - 1453
8 375% U S dollar senior notes due 2019 3093 3806
8 875% sterling sentor notes due 2019 2503 3452
525% U S dollar semor notes due 2022 3089 -
4 875% U S dollar senior notes due 2022 5559 -
5 125% sterling semor notes due 2022 4000 -
1,824 4 1,720 3

Less i1ssue costs (198 (35)
Toral senior notes 1,804 6 1,696 8
Borrowings: amounts falling due after more than one year 1,804 6 1,696 8

The company has the following Sentor Notes 1n 1ssue as at 31 December 2012

1) 8 375% Semor Notes due 15 October 2019 - the principal amount at maturity 1s $507 | million Interest
15 payable semi-annually on 15 April and 15 October commencing 15 April 2010

2) 8 875% Sentor Notes due 15 October 2019 - the principal amount at maturity 15 £253 5 million  Interest
15 payable semi-annually on 15 Apnl and 15 October commencing 15 Apnil 2010

3) 5 25% Semor Notes due 15 February 2022 — the principal amount at maturity 1s $500 milhion  Interest 1s
payable semi-annually on 15 February and 15 August commencing 15 August 2012

4) 4 875% Senior Notes due 15 February 2022 - the principal amount at maturity 1s $900 mulion  Interest
15 payable semi-annually on 15 February and 15 August commencing 15 February 2013

3) 5 125% Senior Notes due 15 February 2022 — the principal amount at maturity 1s £400 mtllion Interest
1s payable semi-annually on 15 February and 15 August commencing 15 February 2013

On 26 July 2011 the company’s £550 mudlion 9 125% scalor notes due 2016 were settled by subsidiary
undertakings for cash of £355 8 million

On 13 March 2012 the company 1ssued $500 million 5 25% senior notes due 2022 at par, and received
proceeds of £316 3 mullion, net of fees of £29 millon The net proceeds, and cash on the company's
balance sheet, were used to redeem $500 million of the $1,350 million 9 50% senior notes due 2016 on 28
March 2012 for cash of £361 2 mullien inclusive of a redemption premuum of £47 | mullion

On 30 October 2012 the company issued $900 million 4 875% and £400 milllon 5 125% senmior notes due
2022 at par, and the company received proceeds of £953 | million, net of fees of £7 4 million The net
proceeds, and cash on the company’s balance sheet, were used to redeem the remaining $850 million of the
$1,350 million 9 50% senior notes due 2016, the full outstanding balance of the €180 millhon 9 50% senior
notes due 2016, $92 9m of the $600 million 8 375% senior notes due 2019 and £96 5 mullion of the £350
million 8 875% senior notes due 2019 The company repaid these notes over the period 31 October 2012 to
30 November 2012 with cash of £930 9 mullion, inclusive of a redempnion premium of £103 3 milhon

Virgin Media Inc, the company’s ultimate parent company, and all the ntermediate holding compantes,
guarantee the Senior Notes on a senuor basis  Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limuted (VMIH), a direct
wholly owned subsidiary of the company, guarantees the Semor Notes on a senior subordnated basis and
has ne significant assets of its own other than 1ts investments in 1ts subsidiaries The company has given a
full and unconditional guarantee of all amounts payable under the terms of the Virgin Media group's senior
credit facihity and Semior Secured Notes due 2018 and 2021
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Virgin Media Finance PLC

Notes to the Compaay Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

7 Authorised and issued share capital

2012 2011
£000 £000
Authorised
5,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 5,000 0 5,000 0
Allotted, called up and fully paid
92.456 ordinary shares of £1 each 920 920
8 Reconciliation of movements in equity shareholders’ funds
Called-up Share Profit
equity share premuum Caputal and loss
capatal account contribution account Total
£ million £ million £ milhon £ mullion £ miihon
At | January 2011 0l 3,3232 50 (1,158 0) 2,170 3
Loss for the year - - - {16 5) (16 5)
At | January 2012 01 3,3232 50 (1,174 5) 2,153 8
Loss for the year - - - (183 5) (183 5)
At 31 December 2012 [ 3,3232 50 {1,358 0) 1,970 3

Share capttal

The balance classified as share capital represents the nommnal value on 1ssue of the company's equity share
capntal, compnising £1 ordinary shares

Capual contribution

The £5 million capntal contribution was received from Virgin Media Communications Limited as part of a
comprehensive group restructuring n 2006

9 Related party transactions

In accordance with the exemptions offered by FRS § ‘Related Party disclosures’ there 15 no disclosure 1n
these financial statements of transactions with entities that are 100% owned by Virgin Media Inc
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Yirgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

10 Auditor’s and director’s remuneration

11

12

13

Auditor’s remuneration of £1,000 (2011 - £1,000) represents costs attributed to the company by the fellow
group undertakings that pay all auditor’s remuneration on behalf of the Virgin Media group

Fees paid to Emst & Young LLP and its associates for nor-audit services to the parent company itself are
not disclosed 1n the individual accounts of Virgin Media Finance PLC because group financial statements
are prepared which are required to disclose such fees on a consohdated basis

The directors received remuneration for the year of £3,500 (2011 - £3,500) wn relation to quahfying services
as directors of this cempany, all of which was paid by Virgin Media Limited

Contingent liabilities

The company, along with fellow group undertakings, 15 party to a senior secured credn facility with a
syndicate of banks under which 1t has guaranteed the amount outstanding, which as at 31 December 2012
amounted to approximately £1,200 mullion (2011 - £1,200 million) Borrowings under the facility are
secured against the assets of certain members of the group including those of the company

In addimon, a wholly owned subsidiary has issued senior secured notes which, subject 1o certain exceptions,
share the same guarantees and secunty which have been granted in favour of the semor credit faciity The
amount outstanding under the senior secured notes at 31 December 2012 amounted 1o approximately £2,582
milhon (2011 - £2,575 million) Borrowings under the notes are secured against the assets of certan
members of the group including those of the company

The company has joint and several habilities under a group VAT regisiration
Post balance sheet events

For details of the post bzlance sheet events ansing as a result of the proposed merger of the Virgin Media
group and Liberty Global, Inc, see note 28 to the group financial siatements

Parent undertaking and controlling party

The company's immediate parent undertaking is Virgin Media Communicat:ons Limited

The largest group of which the company 1s a member and for which group accounts have been drawn up 1s
that headed by Virgin Media Inc  The smallest group of which the company 15 a member and for which
group accounts have been drawn up s the Virgin Media Finance PLC group

The company's ulmate parent undertaking and controlling party at 31 December 2012 was Vugin Media
Inc , a company incorporated in the state of Delaware, United States of America Copies of all sets of group

accounts are available from Company Secretary, Virgin Media, Bartley Wood Busmess Park, Hook,
Hampshire, RG27 9UP
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